ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITIES AND CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF HOT WATER-SOLUBLE EXTRACTS AND FRACTIONS OF SELECTED Schizophyllum commune Fr. STRAINS

ALYAA SALAH RASHID AL-SALIHI

FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITI MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR 2021

ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITIES AND CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF HOT WATER-SOLUBLE EXTRACTS AND FRACTIONS OF SELECTED Schizophyllum commune Fr. STRAINS

ALYAA SALAH RASHID AL-SALIHI

DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE (BIOTECHNOLOGY)

FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITI MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2021

UNIVERSITI MALAYA ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate: ALYAA SALAH RASHID

Matric No: 17007035/1

Name of Degree: MASTER OF SCIENCE (BIOTECHNOLOGY)

Title of Dissertation ("this work"):

ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITIES AND CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF HOT WATER-SOLUBLE EXTRACTS AND FRACTIONS OF SELECTED Schizophyllum commune Fr. STRAINS

Field of Study: FUNGAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date: 02/08/2021

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date: 02/08/2021

Name:

Designation:

ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITIES AND CHEMICAL COMPOSITION OF HOT WATER-SOLUBLE EXTRACTS AND FRACTIONS OF SELECTED Schizophyllum commune Fr. STRAINS

ABSTRACT

Oxidative stress is a conjoint pathological mechanism that can be triggered by free radicals leading to cellular senescence or apoptosis. Antioxidants have the potential to inhibit free radicals' generation and balance the irregulated oxidative stress to restore cellular homeostasis. Schizophyllum commune, also known as the split-gill mushroom, is well-known for its nutritional values and bioactive compounds. This study aimed to investigate the antioxidant activity and chemical composition of the hot water extracts of selected strains of S. commune including natural, gamma-irradiated and hybrid strains. The fruiting bodies of different strains of S. commune were subjected to hot water extraction and the extracts were evaluated by radical scavenging, and reducing capacity assays. Results showed that, overall, the antioxidant activity of the various strains was comparable. The natural strain W and the strain obtained when strain W was subjected to gamma-irradiation at a dose of 4000 Gy (W4000) consistently exhibited high antioxidant activities in all assays and they were either comparable or higher than common edible mushrooms, *Pleurotus pulmonarius* and *Agaricus* bisporus. Moreover, the gamma-irradiated strains R2000 and R4000 exhibited higher reducing activities (0.40 and 0.41 mmol Fe²⁺/g extract) than the parental strain R (0.27 mmol Fe²⁺/g extract). Furthermore, the hybrid strains WR and RW showed higher scavenging activities towards 2,2 diphenyl-1-picylhydrazyl radicals (1.40 and 1.45 mmol TE/g extract) than the parental strain R (1.17 mmol TE/g extracts), but lower than the parental strain W (1.78 mmol TE/g extract). There is a strong correlation between the antioxidant activity of the extracts and the levels of flavonoid and phenolic compounds (p < 0.01). In order to

determine the nature of antioxidative components in the hot water extracts of *S. commune*, the extracts of strains W and W4000, were fractionated to yield fractions with distinct chemical components. Results indicated that the phenolics- and flavonoids-rich ethyl acetate and ethanol fractions exhibited higher scavenging activities towards DPPH radicals, and ferric reducing activities compared to the fractions containing mostly water-soluble components. Similar trends were observed for both W and W4000 strains. Our findings suggest that the observed antioxidant activities of the hot water extracts of *S. commune* is mainly attributed to the water-soluble, low- molecular-weight compounds rather than the water-soluble components such as polysaccharides and proteins which make up the bulk of the water extracts.

Keywords: Schizophyllum commune, hot water extracts, fractionation, antioxidants.

AKTIVITI ANTIOKSIDAN DAN KOMPOSISI KIMIA DALAM EKSTRAK DAN PECAHAN TERLARUT AIR PANAS STRAIN Schizophyllum commune Fr. TERPILIH

ABSTRAK

Tekanan oksidatif adalah mekanisme patologi bergabung yang dapat dicetus oleh radikal bebas yang menyebabkan penuaan sel atau apoptosis. Antioksidan berpotensi menghalang penghasilan radikal bebas dan mengimbangkan tekanan oksidatif yang tidak teratur untuk memulihkan homeostasis selular. Schizophyllum commune, juga dikenal sebagai cendawan insang terpisah, terkenal dengan nilai pemakanan dan sebatian bioaktif. Kajian ini bertujuan untuk mengkaji aktiviti antioksidan dan komposisi kimia ekstrak air panas dari strain S. *commune* terpilih termasuk strain semula jadi, strain penyinar gamma dan strain hibrid. Jana buah dari strain S. commune yang berlainan dikenakan pengekstrakan air panas dan ekstraknya dikaji melalui ujian mengumpul radikal, dan keupayaan penurunan. Hasil kajian menunjukkan bahawa, secara keseluruhan, aktiviti antioksidan dari pelbagai jenis adalah setanding. Baka semula jadi W dan baka yang diperoleh apabila strain W dikenakan penyinaran gamma pada dos 4000 Gy (W4000) menunjukkan aktiviti antioksidan yang tinggi secara konsisten dalam semua ujian dan mereka setanding lebih tinggi daripada cendawan yang boleh dimakan biasa, Pleurotus pulmonarius dan Agaricus bisporus. Tambahan baka terdedah kepada sinaran gamma R2000 dan R4000 menunjukkan aktiviti penurunan yang lebih tinggi (0.40 dan 0.41 mmol Fe²⁺/g ekstrak) daripada baka induk R (0.27 mmol Fe²⁺/g ekstrak). Selanjutnya, baka hibrid WR dan RW menunjukkan aktiviti mengumpul yang lebih tinggi terhadap radikal 2,2 diphenyl-1-picylhydrazyl (1.40 dan 1.45 mmol TE/g ekstrak) daripada baka induk R (1.17 mmol TE/g ekstrak), tetapi lebih rendah daripada baka induk W (1.78 mmol TE/g ekstrak). Terdapat korelasi yang kuat antara aktiviti antioksidan ekstrak dan tahap sebatian flavonoid dan fenolik (p < 0.01). Untuk menentukan sifat komponen antioksidan dalam ekstrak air panas *S. commune*, ekstrak strain W dan W4000, diperingkatkan untuk menghasilkan pecahan dengan komponen kimia yang berbeza. Hasil kajian menunjukkan bahawa pecahan etil asetat dan etanol yang kaya dengan fenolik dan flavonoid menunjukkan aktiviti mengumpul yang lebih tinggi terhadap radikal DPPH, dan aktiviti penurunan ferik berbanding dengan pecahan yang kebanyakannya mengandungi komponen terlarut air. Trend yand serupa diperhatikan untuk kedua-dua baka W dan W4000. Penemuan kami menunjukkan bahawa aktiviti antioksidan yang diperhatikan dari ekstrak air panas *S. commune* disebabkan oleh sebatian terlarut air, berat molekul rendah dan bukannya komponen terlarut air seperti polisakarida dan protein yang membentuk sebahagian besar extrak air.

Kata kunci: Schizophyllum commune, ekstrak air panas, pecahan, antioksidan.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the name of Allah, I would like to thank him for giving me force and perseverance to complete my study.

First of all, I would like to sincerely thank my great supervisor Dr. Lau Beng Fye, for giving me the opportunity to be his postgraduate student, for his countless guidance, assistance, patience and knowledge throughout my study. Also, my deepest gratitude to my co-supervisor Dr. Kong Kin Weng, for his contributions during thesis writing, as well as his support and patience that have accompanied me during the research time. My profound gratitude also goes to Professor Dr. Noorlidah binti Abdullah for her support, encouragements and motivation during my work.

To my parent Professor Dr. Salah Rashid Al-Salihi and my kind hearted mother Nagham Anaam. For always being by my side helping and supporting me, and for everything they invest into my life. This thesis is dedicated to them. Special thanks to my brothers Omar Salah and Sinan Salah for their love and support.

Many thanks go to all the staff and lab mates in Mycology Laboratory/Institute of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science. Not forgetting the staff and lab mates, especially Wong Chen Yuan from the Protein and Interactomic Laboratory in the Faculty of Medicine. Thank you for making the labs a comfortable place to work and for lending their hands at all times of need.

My greatest appreciation to Professor Dr. Wathiq Ismail Al-salihi, Professor Dr. Fawwaz Al-Joudi, Mustafa Fawzi Sami and Mohanad Al-Jashaamy for their continuous support, motivation and patience. I am sincerely thankful for all your time and advices throughout my study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTiii
ABSTRAK v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS viii
LIST OF FIGURES xii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS xiv
LIST OF APPENDICES
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1. Introduction 1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW 5
2.1 Oxidative Stress
2.2 Antioxidants
2.2.1 Natural Antioxidants
2.2.2 Synthetic Antioxidants 11
2.3 Mushrooms as a Source of Antioxidants
2.3.1 Strains Improvement of Mushrooms14
2.3.2 Bioactive Compounds in Mushrooms 15
2.3.3 Proteins
2.3.4 Polysaccharides
2.3.5 Secondary Metabolites
2.4 Schizophyllum commune

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 27			
3.1 Chemicals	. 27			
3.2 Mushrooms samples				
3.3 Preparation of crude hot water extracts	. 29			
3.4 Determination of chemical compositions of the crude hot water extracts	. 29			
3.4.1 Total sugar content	. 29			
3.4.2 Total protein content	. 29			
3.4.3 Total phenolic content	. 30			
3.4.4 Total flavonoid content	. 30			
3.5 Assessment of antioxidant activity of crude hot water extracts	. 30			
3.5.1 Diphenyl-2-pricryl-hydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay	. 31			
3.5.2 2,2-azino-bis (3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) or ABTS ⁺ scavenging assay	. 31			
3.5.3 Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay	. 32			
3.5.4 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) assay	. 32			
3.6 Fractionation of selected crude hot water extracts of <i>S. commune</i>	. 33			
3.6.1 Liquid-liquid extraction	. 33			
3.6.2 Ammonium sulphate precipitation	. 33			
3.6.3 Ethanol precipitation	. 34			
3.7 Assessment of chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of <i>S. commune</i> fractions	. 36			
3.8 Statistical analysis	. 36			

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	37
4.1 Yield of crude hot water extracts	37
4.2 Chemical compositions of crude hot water mushroom extracts	38
4.2.1 Total sugar content	38
4.2.2 Total protein content	38
4.2.3 Total phenolic content	38
4.2.4 Total flavonoid content	39
4.3 Antioxidant activities of crude mushroom extracts	41
4.3.1 DPPH radical scavenging activities	41
4.3.2 ABTS ⁺ scavenging activities	42
4.3.3 Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP)	43
4.3.4 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC)	44
4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples	45
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples 4.4 Yield of <i>S. commune</i> fractions 	45 47
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples	45 47 48
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples 4.4 Yield of <i>S. commune</i> fractions 4.5 Chemical compositions of <i>S. commune</i> fractions 4.5.1 Total sugar content 	45 47 48 48
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples	45 47 48 48 48
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples	45 47 48 48 48 48
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples 4.4 Yield of <i>S. commune</i> fractions 4.5 Chemical compositions of <i>S. commune</i> fractions. 4.5.1 Total sugar content 4.5.2 Total protein content 4.5.3 Total phenolic content 4.5.4 Total flavonoid content 	45 47 48 48 48 48 49
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples	45 47 48 48 48 48 49 51
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples	45 47 48 48 48 48 49 51 51
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples 4.4 Yield of <i>S. commune</i> fractions 4.5 Chemical compositions of <i>S. commune</i> fractions. 4.5.1 Total sugar content 4.5.2 Total protein content 4.5.3 Total phenolic content 4.5.4 Total flavonoid content 4.6 The antioxidant activities of <i>S. commune</i> fractions. 4.6.1 DPPH radical scavenging activities 4.6.2 ABTS⁺ scavenging activities 	45 47 48 48 48 48 49 51 51 52
 4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from <i>S. commune</i> samples. 4.4 Yield of <i>S. commune</i> fractions	45 47 48 48 48 48 49 51 51 52 53

4.6.4 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC)	54
4.6.5 Pearson's correlation analysis between chemical composition and antioxidant activities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	55
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	56
5.1 The yields of <i>S. commune</i> hot water extracts and their selected fractions	56
5.2 Chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of crude hot water extracts of <i>commune</i>	` <i>S</i> . 57
5.3 Chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of the fractions derived from crude hot water extracts of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	the 63
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	68
REFERENCES	70
APPENDIX	95

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	:	The fruiting bodies of <i>Schizophyllum commune</i> cultivated in Mycology Laboratory, Institute of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Universiti Malaya	22
Figure 3.1	:	Extraction and fractionation of selected strains of S. commune	35
Figure 4.1	:	DPPH free radical scavenging activities of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms	42
Figure 4.2	:	ABTS ⁺ scavenging activities of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms	43
Figure 4.3	:	Ferric ion-reducing antioxidant power of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms	44
Figure 4.4	:	Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacities of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms	45
Figure 4.5	:	DPPH free radical scavenging activities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	51
Figure 4.6	:	$ABTS^+$ scavenging activities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	52
Figure 4.7	·	Ferric ion-reducing antioxidant power of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	53
Figure 4.8	:	Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000.	54

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	:	Previous studies conducted on various <i>Schizophyllum commune</i> extracts to determine their antioxidant activities	24
Table 3.1	:	Mushroom samples used in this study	28
Table 4.1	:	The yields of crude hot water extracts of selected mushroom samples	37
Table 4.2	:	The chemical compositions of crude hot water extracts of selected mushroom samples	40
Table 4.3	:	Pearson's correlation coefficients between various chemical compositions parameters and antioxidant activities of the crude hot water extracts.	46
Table 4.4	:	The yields of fractions of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	47
Table 4.5	:	The chemical compositions of the fractions derived from the selected strains of <i>S. commune</i> strains	50
Table 4.6	:	Pearson's correlation coefficients between various chemical compositions parameters and antioxidant activities of the fractions	55

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

β	Beta
°C	degree centigrade
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide
μg	microgram
μl	microliter
μΜ	micromolar
$O_2 \bullet^-$	superoxide anion
•OH	hydroxyl radical
%	percentage
Ab	Agaricus bisporus
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ABTS	2,2'-azino-bis (3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid)
BHA	butylated hydroxyanisole
ВНТ	butylated hydroxytoluene
Ca	calcium
САТ	catalase
CUPRAC	cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity
Cu-Zn	zinc-copper
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DPPH	2,2 diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
dw	dry weight
EA	ethyl acetate

et al	and others
etc.	Et cetera
Fe	iron
FRAP	ferric reducing antioxidant power
Fe ²⁺	ferrous ion
GAE	gallic acid equivalent
GE	glucose equivalent
GSH-Px	glutathione peroxidase
g	gram
Gy	Gray
h	hour
kGy	kilo gray
K	potassium
mg	miligram
ml	milliliter
mmol	milimol
mM	milimolar
min	minute
М	molar
MDA	malondialdehyde
Mg	magnesium
Mn-dependent	manganese-dependent
Na	sodium

NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
nm	nanometers
ORAC	oxygen radical absorbance capacity
Pb	Pleurotus pulmonarius
ROS	reactive oxygen species
rpm	revolutions per minute
RE	rutin equivalent
RNS	reactive nitrogen species
SOD	superoxide dismutase
PG	propyl gallate
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Science
TBHQ	tert-butylhydroquinone
TE	trolox equivalent
USA	United States of America
v/v	volume/volume
w/w	weight/weight

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A	:	Determination of chemical compositions of <i>S. commune</i> crude hot water extracts	95
Appendix B	:	Determination of antioxidant activities of <i>S. commune</i> hot water extracts	103
Appendix C	:	Determination of chemical compositions of fractions of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	111
Appendix D	:	Determination of antioxidant activities of fractions of <i>S. commune</i> strains W and W4000	121

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1. Introduction

Oxidative stress is a physiological state triggered by an exposure to excessive levels of free radicals or reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide anion ($O_2^{\bullet-}$), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and hydroxyl radical (\bullet OH), all of which can hamper the functionalities of important cell biomolecules, mainly proteins, DNA, and lipids. Rising evidence indicated that the severe impairment caused by the accumulation of ROS contributes to several chronic disorders (Mittal et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2009). According to Phaniendra et al. (2015), there are several sources of free radicals with endogenous free radicals resulting from physiological processes is the most common source. These radicals are generated in the mitochondria (the powerhouse of the cell). However, the energy-generating processes of the mitochondria can also pose contrasting effects to the body due to the generation and accumulation of free radicals in the cell leading to oxidative stress. In addition, Phaniendra et al. (2015) have reported that oxidative stress can cause DNA damage via several modifications of the deoxyribose backbone leading to cancer, senescence and neurodegenerative diseases.

Antioxidants play a significant role in neutralising the oxidative stress by minimising the levels of free radicals and consequently enabling the body cell to carry out useful biological functions without excessive damage. Balance must be reached in the body between free radicals and antioxidants to avoid the risk of oxidative stress (Al-Joudi, 2013; Halliwell, 2006). The antioxidant system can be divided mainly into enzymatic and nonenzymatic. The main components of the enzymatic antioxidants include superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and catalase (CAT) (MirończukChodakowska et al., 2018). Enzymes with antioxidant activity are characterized by their ability in stabilizing free radicals and maintain normal cellular redox activities. Moreover, protection against reactive oxygen species is also provided by non-enzymatic dietary antioxidants. Examples of such molecules include phenolics compounds (flavonoids and phenolic acids), carotenoids, vitamin C, polysaccharides, proteins, etc.

There is an increasing demand for natural antioxidants due to safety concerns for synthetic antioxidants. These antioxidants are specifically derived from natural sources, such as spices, plants (fruits, herbs and vegetables) and mushrooms (Lu et al., 2011; Pieszka et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2015). Mushrooms are rich sources of nutraceuticals with several biological properties, such as antioxidant (Khatun et al., 2012), antitumor (Mallick et al., 2010), and antimicrobial activities (Smolskaite et al., 2015).

Among the bioactive compounds reported to be responsible for the antioxidant activities of mushrooms are polyphenols, tocopherols, vitamins, lycopene, polysaccharides, proteins, and carotenoids (Chowdhury et al., 2015; De Silva et al., 2013; Thongbai et al., 2015). The chemical compositions and antioxidant potentials of mushrooms are influenced by several factors, including mushroom species, habitat composition, stage of harvest, processing techniques, handling conditions, extraction solvent, and others (Pereira et al., 2012; Stajic et al., 2013; Vishwakarma et al., 2016).

Several approaches in mushroom strains improvement may affect the chemical compositions and hence the biological activities of the mushrooms, including their antioxidant abilities. Techniques such as gamma irradiation, molecular breeding and hybridization have been previously applied to generate mushroom strains with modified chemical compositions and enhanced biological activities. The results obtained seem to be

influenced by the types of mushroom, the dose of gamma irradiation and the hybridization method used (Jaswal et al., 2013; Kumara & Edirimanna, 2009; Sathesh-Prabu & Lee, 2016; Sato et al., 2006).

Among the species of basidiomycetes with notable medicinal significance is *Schizophyllum commune*, a fungus which is typically found on diverse trees and rotting wood across the world (Chowdhary et al., 2013). It is a non-sporulating, wood-decaying and endophytic fungus which is also known as split gills due to the splitting appearance of its underside gills when it is dehydrated (Sim, 2014). Several researches have showed that various extracts of *S. commune* exhibited high scavenging activities toward free radicals and acted as ion reducing agents (Chandrawanshi et al., 2017; Devi et al., 2014; Emsen et al., 2017; Mirfat et al., 2010) but in-depth studies into the chemical constituents are lacking.

It is known that bioactivities of different mushroom strains may be varied. As part of an on-going experiment, several strains of *S. commune* have been generated from two different parental strains by subjecting them to gamma-irradiation and hybridization of the monokaryon; however, it is not known if these strains exhibit antioxidant activity that is higher, lower or comparable to the parental strains. Regarding the nature of antioxidants in *S. commune*, previous studies focused on the organic solvent extracts that are likely to contain mostly low-molecular-weight compounds but the role of the high molecular weight components such as polysaccharides and proteins that are usually present in the hot water extracts are not well studied. Therefore, the aim of this research was to evaluate the antioxidant activities of the crude hot water extracts of selected natural, gamma-irradiated and hybrid strains of *S. commune*. The objectives of this study were:

- i. To compare the antioxidant activities of the hot water extracts and fractions of the fruiting bodies of selected *S. commune* strains.
- ii. To determine the chemical compositions of the *S. commune* crude hot water extracts and fractions of the selected strains.
- iii. To correlate the antioxidant activities of *S. commune* extracts and fractions with their chemical compositions.

4

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Oxidative Stress

The constant exposure of the body tissues to certain stimulus perturbs the biochemical process at the cellular level and consequently heralds possible physiological changes. This state of imbalance in the body homeostasis is commonly refer to as stress, more specifically an oxidative stress; while the stimulus whether physical or psychological is termed stressors (Rahal et al., 2014). Oxidative stress is further characterized by an imbalance in the amount of oxidant compared to antioxidant, resulting in the outburst of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that leads to an actual damage to the cells (Sies, 1997). Naturally, oxidation in conjunction with reduction (redox) represents a major biochemical reaction involving the removal and addition of electron via electron carrier, e.g., the two forms of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, in a regulated process to generate energy from fuel molecules. Although the by-products of oxidation such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are responsible for several important biological process of living organism, their accumulation at higher concentrations can also be damaging (Mittler, 2017).

These reactive species are molecules or atoms having one or more unpaired electron in the external electron shell, capable of stabilizing themselves by abstracting an electron from a nearby target molecule (Di Meo et al., 2016; Phaniendra et al., 2015). The normal cell processes such as oxidative phosphorylation and exposure to toxic environmental contaminants can result in the formation of elevated concentrations of free radicals which may cause serious damage to deoxyribonucleic acid, proteins/peptides and lipids (Rahal et al., 2014). As a result of the damage to the macromolecule, the increase in various diseases and disorders becomes predictable (Sordillo & Aitken, 2009). Factors contributing to the formation of free radicals can be categorized into exogenous and endogenous sources. Among the endogenous sources of free radicals includes respiratory oxidases in mitochondria, xanthine oxidase in cytosol, cytochrome in endoplasmic reticulum, oxidases in peroxisomes, cyclooxygenase in lipid bilayer and during Fenton reaction (Di Meo et al., 2016). External or exogenous factors responsible for the production of free radicals are mainly related to unhealthy life style, such as heavy smoking, drug abuse, alcohol, continuous exposure to radiation, and pollutants – pesticides, industrial chemicals and ozone (Wojtunik-Kulesza et al., 2016).

Although there are varying mechanisms by which free radicals react with nearby molecules, the underlying basis involves electron abstraction of free radicals to gain stability and the eventual loss of electron by the target molecule (Dizdaroglu & Jaruga, 2012). The attacked molecules may be biochemical compounds involved in very crucial enzyme reactions, such as protein (Stadtman & Levine, 2000), lipid (Herttuala, 1999) and DNA (Marnett, 2000). Following an attack by free radicals, the chemical structure of these molecules may be altered, consequently impairing their cellular function and thereby contributing to cellular senescence or apoptosis (Ziskoven et al., 2010).

Cell damage caused by free radicals (ROS) are responsible for many severe diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular and neurological diseases, renal and liver disorders as well as age-related disorders like neurodegenerative and diabetes mellitus (Sinha & Kumar, 2015). Therefore, neutralisation of free or peroxide radicals by an antioxidant agent constitutes an important strategy for cell to be protected against oxidative stress (Sen et al., 2010).

2.2 Antioxidants

To neutralise the detrimental effects of free radical on the cell, our body has developed scavenging molecules called antioxidants as its primary defense mechanism. These include enzymatic antioxidants such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and catalase (CAT) (Jeeva et al., 2015), and non-enzymatic antioxidants, which include vitamin C, vitamin E, NADPH, glutathione, thioredoxin and certain trace metals (Mirończuk-Chodakowska et al., 2018; Rahal et al., 2014). Similarly, antioxidant molecules such as flavonoids, ascorbic acid, uric acid and lipoic acid can be obtained exogenously from food substances (Rahal et al., 2014).

A natural antioxidant is identified as any substance derived from natural sources (herbs, vegetables and fruit), accumulates in concentration, which is high enough to inhibit the oxidation process of the reactive substrate (Krishnaiah et al., 2007). An optimal antioxidant substance should be readily absorbed by the cells and must possess the ability to prevent or suppress the chain reaction of free radicals as well as chelates redox metal at physiologically related levels. Similarly, the ideal antioxidant should perform very well in both aqueous and non-aqueous medium and have a positive impact on the cell (Ratnam et al., 2006).

The homeostasis of cellular oxidoreduction is regulated by a complicated internal antioxidant defense pathway that composed of enzymatic molecules such as superoxide dismutase which occurs as a Cu-Zn enzyme that resides inside the cell plasma, or a Mn-dependent catalyst that is located in the cell powerhouse (Kwon et al., 2012). Similarly, catalase is a high molecular weight, Fe-dependent enzyme that found in all cells types and localized in the cytosol (Nicholls, 2012). Moreover, low molecular weight glutathione

peroxidases play a significant role in reducing several organic and inorganic hydroperoxides to their equivalent hydroxyl derivatives, using glutathione as a reductant (Brigelius-Flohé & Maiorino, 2013).

As for exogenous antioxidants, they are classified into two groups. The first group includes vitamins, flavonoids, anthocyanins and certain mineral compounds, which are derived from natural sources, mainly plants. On the other hand, the second group includes synthetic compounds (butylhydroxyanisole, butylhydroxytoluene, gallates, etc.) with antioxidant properties (Sen & Chakraborty, 2011). Antioxidants defense mechanisms work precisely by acting against oxidative stress via scavenging of radicals, donation of an electron, decomposition of peroxides, singlet oxygen quenching, enzymes inhibition and metal-chelating actions. Both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants are present in both internal and external environments to neutralize ROS (He et al., 2017).

There are two major techniques of antioxidant to overcome oxidative stress. The first one is a chain-breaking reaction involving the donation of electron by the primary/natural antioxidant to the highly reactive unpaired electron of free radicals located in the systems. In this case, the antioxidant acts directly on the unstable radicals and deactivate them, while they become less reactive free radicals or stabilized by other antioxidants and eventually terminating the chain reaction (Sen et al., 2010). This ability of antioxidant to donate electrons without itself becoming highly unstable is mostly due to the presence of aromatic ring in their structure, which allows for delocalization of unpaired electron. For example, vitamin C works by reacting with hydroxyl or alkoxyl radicals to generate water and alcohol respectively. The resulting vitamin C radical is stabilized via delocalization of its structure, and with the aid of NADH or NADPH-dependent reductases, vitamin C is restored (Lü et al., 2010).

The second mechanism is the removal of several oxygen species via inhibition of their activities by mostly enzymatic antioxidants. These enzymes function by blocking the development of free radicals from the onset. For example, enzyme such as superoxide dismutase is responsible for the dismutation of superoxide anion free radical $(O_2 \bullet^-)$ into oxygen molecule and hydrogen peroxide, subsequent to its conversion into water and oxygen molecule by either catalase (CAT) or glutathione peroxidase (GPx) (Santos-Sánchez et al., 2019). The concomitant elimination of H₂O₂ by CAT or GPx prevent the formation of hydroxyl radical from hydrogen peroxide via Fenton Reaction (Lü et al., 2010). Also, other processes of antioxidant defense system include metal ion chelation, up-regulation of antioxidants gene expression, and inhibition of gene expression of radical-producing enzymes (Kostuyk & Potapoyich, 2009).

2.2.1 Natural Antioxidants

Natural antioxidants can be found in food sources, such as fruits, vegetables and mushrooms. Therefore, several natural antioxidants are consumed from our daily diet. In recent years, the need for natural antioxidants has intensified due to the growing concern of consumers regarding the possible harmful consequences of synthetic antioxidants (Juntachote et al., 2006; Naveena et al., 2008). Moreover, the natural antioxidant is well-known for its high aqueous solubility, easy availability, purity, and high activity. Thus, it represents a better choice for most consumers as a functional ingredient to foods and food products (Jiang & Xiong, 2016).

Antioxidant properties of many edible plants' species such as fruits, vegetables, herbs, and spices have been reported (Curimbaba et al., 2020; Gunathilake et al., 2016; Qasim et al., 2017). Most plant-based natural antioxidants contain polyphenols and carotenoids, which are known for various biological activities including antiviral, antibacterial and antiinflammatory (Rathore et al., 2017). However, to complement the green nature of the antioxidants coupled with overcoming the degradation associated with the conventional extraction techniques (maceration and Soxhlet) and increase and preserve its activity, different improved eco-friendly extraction and accurate evaluation methods have been developed (Azmir et al., 2013; Barba et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2016). Some of these extraction methods include enzyme-assisted extraction, ultrasound-assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, pulsed electric field extraction, and others (Xu et al., 2017). Similarly, the antioxidant content can be evaluated via cellular antioxidant activity assay, trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC), oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC), ferric ion reducing antioxidant assay, etc. (Xu et al., 2017).

The mechanisms of natural antioxidants depend on their classification, for example, they can deactivate free radicals via stabilizing them, thereby minimising the cellular damage and risk of oxidative related diseases. Also, dietary antioxidants such as carotenoids prevent chain reaction formation by scavenging and deactivating the free radicals (Krinsky, 2001). Moreover, mineral antioxidants such as selenium, copper and iron; they function as cofactors for enzymatic antioxidants (Allen & Cornforth, 2007). In the case of metal-binding proteins such as ferritin, lactoferrin and albumin; they are responsible for binding metals, thereby preventing their availability for Fenton reaction (Igielska-Kalwat et al., 2015; Perez-Jimenez et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2011). Therefore, increasing the levels of antioxidants in the body through the dietary intake of supplements rich in vitamins and minerals will protect the human cells against oxidative stress and prevent health disorders (Landete, 2013).

2.2.2 Synthetic Antioxidants

Synthetic antioxidants are antioxidant compounds synthesized and purified chemically. The most common features of these antioxidants include cost-effective, shorter assay duration and efficient and better pharmacological activity against different diseases. Some synthetic antioxidants are fat-soluble substances and are therefore able to effectively prevent lipid peroxidation in many processed food, pharmaceutical and supplements. The ideal synthetic compounds are mostly added or applied to different food item or other products to extend the shelf life of foods and food product (Berdahl et al., 2010; Karovičová & Šimko, 2000; Saad et al., 2007).

Synthetic antioxidants work mainly by capturing free radicals to stop the formation of chain reaction. Among the most utilized synthetic antioxidants are butylated hydroxyl anisole (BHA), butylated hydroxyl toluene (BHT), *tert*-butylhydroquinone (TBHQ), propyl gallate (PG), and hexylresorcinol. These substances are mostly utilized in food as an antioxidant to preserve food and prevent rancidity (Chen et al., 2004; Freitas et al., 2010; Pop et al., 2013; Rahmanpour & Khalilzadeh., 2016; Yehye et al., 2015). All these antioxidants vary in their usage due to their properties. However, they all function by scavenging radical via donation of hydrogen atom from their hydroxyl substituted phenols structure (Berdahl et al., 2010).

The public concern towards synthetic antioxidants has grown due to several reasons. First, artificial antioxidants have been implicated in promoting tumor growth and forming reactive oxygen species, which may alter the genetic material of the cell (Haas, 2006; Goodman et al., 1990). Second, these antioxidants exhibit low aqueous solubility and a higher degree of toxicity (Sarkar & Ghosh, 2016). Third, they may produce unwanted effect on products color, taste and odor. As a result of the growing concern, countries such as Australia and Japan have either restrict or limit the usage of some of the synthetic antioxidant (Chan et al., 2011).

2.3 Mushrooms as a Source of Antioxidants

The nutritional value of mushrooms is well known (Rathee et al., 2012). Mushrooms provide a remarkable group of nutritional substances, such as vitamins B1, B2, B12, C, D and E (Feeney et al., 2014). Besides, due to its high protein contents, mushrooms can be used as a substrate to avoid protein malnutrition (Miles & Chang, 2004). Similarly, their low cholesterol level as well as a carbohydrate contents make it a suitable substitute food for diabetic and cardiac patients (Lee et al., 2019). Besides, mineral compositions of mushroom includes K, P, Ca, Mg, Na, Fe and some other trace elements (Wang et al., 2014).

Mushrooms are rather economical and technologically quite simple crop to cultivate as it requires small area and resources, and it can be grown anywhere in all seasons with low cost starting martials. Thus, the availability of mushroom made it a good candidate in food and nutraceutical industries (Ferraro et al., 2020). Regarding food industry, fruiting body of mushrooms have been consumed directly in fresh, processed or converted into powder and used as additives to certain food products to increase the nutritional quality of these products (Li et al., 2014). On the other hand, the chemical composition of mushrooms includes several bioactive compounds which give them the ability to exert beneficial effects at different levels (Elkhateeb et al., 2019). Thus, nutraceuticals in the form of food extracts or a single natural compound in a pharmaceutical form (pills, tablets, etc.) consumed as a part of dietary supplements to prevent the consequences of chronic diseases have been developed from mushrooms (Ustun et al., 2018). Some commercially available nutraceuticals include Organis ReiShi-Gen a synergistic blend of 50% *Lentinula edodes* and 50% *Ganoderma lucidum* which is a daily health supplement providing immune strength (Taofiq et al., 2017).

Mushrooms have gained significant attention for their biological activities, such as antitumor, antivirals, anticomplements, anticoagulants, antidiabetics, lipid-lowering drugs, hepatoprotectors, and immunostimulators, all of which made it suitable for use in food industry, cosmetics, biomedicine, agriculture, wastewater management and environmental protection (Moon & Lo, 2014). Moreover, a highly rich nutritional diet filled with natural antioxidants has been reported to lower the side effects of several chronic disorders (Oboh & Shodehinde, 2009).

Many mushrooms have been reported to possess antioxidant properties, which enable them to neutralize free radicals. Mushroom's antioxidant components are found in the fruiting bodies, mycelium and culture broth. For example, Gasecka et al. (2018) have estimated the content of macroelements (Ca, K, Mg, Na) as well as ascorbic acid and phenolic compounds in several mushrooms, and correlated the presence of these components to the ability of the extracts to act as free radical scavengers. Likewise, certain types of medicinal mushrooms and their extracts are alternative sources of antioxidant components, and their defense abilities against oxidative effects have been demonstrated by De Silva et al. (2012). While, Bozdogan et al. (2018) have worked on two edible mushrooms *Lactarius deliciosus* and *Pleurotus ostreatus* and found that the ion reducing capability of the isolated extracts is correlated to the presence of phenolic compounds and lycopene content. Therefore, mushroom is one of the main sources of various types of natural antioxidants (Abugri & McElhenney, 2013).

2.3.1 Strains Improvement of Mushrooms

To meet the growing demands of the increasing population, scientists are now focusing on improving both the phenotypic and genotypic properties of mushrooms by manipulating the chemical compositions to obtain higher yields, better quality, texture, color and taste (Chakravarty, 2011; Dan, 2010; Gogoi et al., 2019). Hybridization, molecular breeding, chemical mutagenesis, and irradiation are the most common ways to improve mushroom strains (Barh et al., 2019; Chattopadhyay et al., 2014; Fernandes et al., 2016).

In general, a hybrid is "the offspring produced by crossing two individuals of unlike genetic make-up", and the hybridization technique has contributed significantly to the improvement of crops and specifically mushroom production (Chakraborty & Sikdar, 2008; Sikdar et al., 2008). The most common type of mushrooms hybridization is practical protoplast fusion approach, which is able to generate different new species for research (Chakraborty & Sikdar, 2010; Mani et al., 2016). The technique includes the isolation of a single spore of fungi species via a spore print or serial dilution. This is followed by the assessment of the monokaryotic mycelium subsequent to its crossing (dikaryotization) with other strains (Baral et al., 2018).

Some studies have shown that hybrids exhibited better bioactivities compared to the parental stains such as Maity et al. (2011) who worked on hybrid of two different mushrooms, namely *Calocybe indica* var. APK2 and *Pleurotus florida* that was obtained by protoplast fusion. The study showed that polysaccharides extracted from the hybrid demonstrated better

scavenging activities at higher concentrations. Likewise, a study was conducted on multiple hybrids of two *Pleurotus* spp. namely *P. ostreatus* and *P. djamor* and it was shown that the two hybrid strains exhibited antioxidant activities and have higher total phenolic contents than the parental strains (Oropeza-Guerrero et al., 2018).

Subsequent to the advancement of DNA technology, physical (UV and gamma irradiation) and chemical mutagens (N'-methyl-N'-nitro-N'-nitrosoguanidine) were employed to produce a point mutation in mushroom strain. Different doses of gamma-irradiation can be used on mushroom mycelium to observe the changes in the chemical components of mushrooms, and to measure the antioxidant activities towards free radicals. For instance, the use of gamma-irradiation on the mycelia of *Pleurotus florida* yielded several mutants. Among the obtained mutants, PO-4 mutant had higher antioxidant activities than the natural strain (Djajanegara, 2008). Likewise, multiple doses of gamma-irradiation were used on the mycelia of *Antrodia camphorata*, the study showed that extracts from irradiated mycelia exhibited antioxidant activities significantly higher than that of the extracts of non-irradiated mycelia (Huang & Mau, 2007).

2.3.2 Bioactive Compounds in Mushrooms

Mushrooms represent a boundless store of biologically active compounds, whose structural and molecular properties are of great importance to the pharmaceutical industry. Mushrooms produce different types of bioactive compounds - primary and secondary metabolites that possess different restorative or curative properties. The primary metabolites such as protein, carbohydrates, etc., are biomolecules that are involved in function of the major organism activities (reproduction, growth, and development). On the other hand, secondary metabolites such as alkaloids, terpenes, steroids, fatty acid, etc., are biochemical compound that less involved in major physiological functions of organism, although it is necessary for competitive survival (Wang et al., 2014). Also, based on sizes, the biologically active compounds in mushrooms are categorized into high and low molecular weight. Polysaccharides (β -glucans) and proteins represent the high molecular weight compound, while ascorbic acid, carotenoids, steroids, organic germanium and selenium constitute some of the low molecular weight functional compounds (Cohen et al., 2014; Feeney et al., 2014; Ferreira et al., 2010).

Most of these biomolecules can be extracted and purified from normal strain fruiting bodies or cultured mycelia. Examples of bioactive molecules with known properties are proteoglycan as immunostimulatory; lectins as antidiabetic; polysaccharides as antiviral; lectinans as antitumor; acidic polysaccharides as anti-inflammatory; terpenes as hepatoprotective and carotenoids as antioxidative agents (Dulay et al., 2017; Friedman, 2016; Jiang, 2014; Muszyńska et al., 2018).

Bioactive proteins in mushrooms that are of potential medicinal interest include lectins and hydrophobins. Besides, many reports have showed the high digestibility of the proteins found in mushroom (Walser et al., 2004; Wani et al., 2010). A study on *Pholiota nameko* demonstrates the antioxidant property of a novel protein in addition to its antitumor properties (Zhang et al., 2014). Similarly, the ability of water-soluble proteins isolated from *Ganoderma lucidum* to chelate prooxidant and donate hydrogen to free radicals was attributed to the high contents of selenium and amino acid residues as reported by Du et al. (2007).

Secondary metabolites (alkaloids, terpenoids, phenolic compounds, steroids, and polyketides) are small molecules produced during morphological and chemical

differentiation against external stimulus. They are usually located and accumulated in the cell wall. Also, the biologically active metabolites of mushrooms possess antioxidant properties and other useful biological potentials (Asatiani et al., 2010; Cheung, 2010; Keles et al., 2011). Likewise, Kumari et al. (2011) have estimated the total contents of phenolic, flavonoid and ascorbic acid of three species of *Cantharellus* spp. and correlated the antioxidant activities of the tested mushroom to the presence of these bioactive compounds.

2.3.3 Proteins

The functional values of mushroom are mostly dependent on its protein contents, which varies depending on the external factors and on the species of the mushroom. The biologically active proteins and peptides produced by mushrooms are varied in structure. Some of the proteins found in the mushroom are lectins, immunomodulatory proteins, ribosome-inactivating proteins, antimicrobial proteins, ribonucleases and laccases, all of which are the crucial and functional components with great values for pharmaceutical products (Sheu et al., 2009; Wong et al., 2008).

Recently, the antioxidative role of proteins and peptides derived from mushrooms have gained significant interest. Also, molecules such as cysteine and tyrosine are normally amino acids with side chains that can donate electrons (Reczek & Chandel, 2015; Schieber & Chandel, 2014; Van Lancker et al., 2011). Also, various studies have proved that proteins and peptides are good inhibitors of lipid peroxidation, scavengers of free radicals and metalions chelators. For example, a novel protein was isolated from *Pholiota nameko* exhibited significant antioxidant activities by effectively scavenging hydroxyl and 1,1-diphenyl-2picrylhydrazyl radicals (Zhang et al., 2014). Moreover, both Farzaneh et al. (2018) and Kimatu et al. (2017) have worked on different mushrooms, they used ammonium sulphate precipitation and chromatography techniques to isolate and purify water-soluble protein. The isolated protein extracts were hydrolyzed by sequential enzymatic processes to obtain several peptide fractions, the peptides and their related initial proteins showed metal chelating abilities and radical scavenging activities.

The enzymatic hydrolysis of proteins is one effective approach that can be used to release antioxidant peptides without affecting the nutritive value. The antioxidant activities of peptides have been reported to depend on enzyme specificity, molecular weight, the degree of hydrolysis, amino acid composition, and hydrophobicity (He et al., 2013; Sarmadi et al., 2010). Moreover, bioactive peptides derived from proteins contain amino acids with aromatic residues that can donate electron/hydrogen to free radicals (Yuwa-amornpitak et al., 2020).

2.3.4 Polysaccharides

Polysaccharides extracted from mushrooms have been studied extensively and found to contribute to fungal antitumor activities (Tao et al., 2006). Moreover, different polysaccharides with extra nutritional components have been extracted and purified from the sporocarps of various types of mushrooms (Chen et al., 2010; Yan et al., 2019). Polysaccharides, glycoproteins and heteropolysaccharides are water-soluble compounds that consist of monosaccharides such as glucose, mannose, galactose, fucose, xylose and arabinose in different ratios coupled with varying glycosidic and peptide linkages (Chen et al., 2008; Nie et al., 2013). Since polysaccharides molecules are considered very complex, elucidation of their specific characteristics is essential to ascertain the effect of structure on the bioactivity of the polysaccharides (Villares et al., 2012). Due to biological properties of mushroom polysaccharides, there has been a massive increase in the industrial use of polysaccharides extracted from various types of edible mushrooms (Rathore et al., 2017).
Tseng et al. (2008) have found that the antioxidant activity of mushroom extracts was found to be correlated with their polysaccharide contents. Moreover, a previous study illustrated the antioxidative potentials of polysaccharides by scavenging free radicals, thereby minimising the damage caused by oxidative stress (Thetsrimuang et al., 2011).

Practically, the antioxidant activities of polysaccharides may vary between one assay to another and also depends on the structural characteristics that involve molecular weight, branching degree, glycosidic bond and chemical composition (Gong et al., 2020; Li et al., 2013). For example, a study on *Flammulina velutipes* showed varying antioxidant properties of four different polysaccharides extracted via different techniques, suggesting the possible influence of the extraction method on the polysaccharides structure and in turn on its antioxidant activity (Zhang et al., 2013). Furthermore, supporting the aforementioned supposition is the study on S. commune, Chen et al. (2019) reported that polysaccharides extracted from S. commune by the ultrasonic-assisted method demonstrated higher hydroxyl radicals scavenging activity and reducing power. The in vivo antioxidative role of polysaccharides have been demonstrated. For instances, Liu et al. (2016) found that polysaccharides from *Cordceps militaris* inhibited the formation of MDA in multiple organs (liver, kidney and heart). This particular study has consolidated the previous findings that polysaccharides have high radicals scavenging activities and protecting abilities against oxidative stress in vivo.

Molecular weight is one of the most important structural features of polysaccharides as it is related to the number of reductive hydroxyl group terminals that are responsible for accepting and eliminating free radicals as well as increasing the solubility of polysaccharides in water and other polar solvents (Cor et al., 2018). Related to the previously mentioned facts, Hu et al. (2019) found that polysaccharides with low molecular weight exhibit better antioxidant activities due to increased solubility and surface as indicated in study of polysaccharides isolated from *F. velutipes*. Kao et al. (2012) have demonstrated that low molecular weight polysaccharides isolated from *Ganoderma lucidum* were able to significantly reduce the reactive oxygen species formation by increasing the viability of a mouse leukaemic monocyte macrophage cell line. Moreover, previous reports indicated that polysaccharides with antioxidant activity were characterised by average molecular weights mainly distributed between 10 and 1000 kDa, composed of glucose, mannose and galactose residues (Chen et al., 2012; Tahmouzi, 2014; Wang et al., 2014).

2.3.5 Secondary Metabolites

Much significance has been attached to mushrooms, owing to its rich nutritional and medicinal values which stem from its plentiful bioactive secondary metabolites (Wasser, 2014), such as phenolic compounds, alkaloids, terpenes, steroids and polyketides. The secretion and the activities of these low molecular weight metabolites are regulated by various cellular and physiological mechanisms (Chanda et al., 2009; Mukherjee et al., 2012). Besides, these compounds are produced by fungi in response to unfavorable environment condition and a threat to their survival (Zhong & Xiao, 2009).

Phenolic compounds are the most known secondary metabolites and represent a large class of phytochemicals with favorable biological properties. Anthocyanins, catechins, lignans, capsaicinoids, stilbenes, curcumin and ellagic acid are some of the phenolic compounds (Palacios et al., 2011). Previous studies have discussed the role of phenolic compounds in stopping the free radical chain reactions due to their hydroxyl group which neutralizes the reactive oxygen/nitrogen species (Asatiani et al., 2010; Yadav et al., 2014).

Alkaloids are also very important organic compounds, which contain basic nitrogen atoms and are commonly used in the pharmaceutical field for drugs development. However, the antioxidant properties of a mushroom may differ depending on the type of alkaloids (Wieczorek et al., 2015). A scientific research study was carried *in vitro* on the methanolic extracts of *Cyclocybe cylindracea*, and β -carboline alkaloid was identified and purified. This particular type of alkaloid was soluble in water and methanol, also exhibited explicit radical scavenging activity (Krüzselyi et al., 2019).

Terpenes are aromatic compound composed of unsaturated hydrocarbon (isoprene) units. Different types of terpenes demonstrating therapeutic efficiency have been identified from mushroom species to date (Jeong et al., 2008; Yue et al., 2010). Terpenes in macrofungi are present in modified forms, such as terpenoids or isoterpenoids and are the most investigated forms of terpenes. The antioxidative activity of terpenoids have been evaluated and measured in several research studies. Their ability to scavenge free radicals and power to reduce ferric ions to ferrous were also demonstrated (Zhong & Xiao, 2009). Modified terpenes (neogrifolin) isolated from *Albatrellus ovinus* showed high scavenging activities towards DPPH radicals (Nukata et al., 2002).

2.4 Schizophyllum commune

Schizophyllum commune (Figure 2.1) is an edible fungus species in the phylum Basidiomycota. This species usually grows abundantly during the rainy season and frequently appears on dead wood (Nieuwenhuis et al., 2011; Ohm et al., 2010; Teoh et al., 2012). It is well-known for its split gills, which function to produce basidiospores on their surface. The individual fruiting bodies are flexible, stiff and well-adapted to a climate with sporadic rains. The color of this species of mushroom is very unique and wavers between white-grey and brown. Moreover, the shape of the fruiting body is like a fan and has a very short strip with the frizzy upper surface (Kuo, 2003).



Figure 2.1: The fruiting bodies of *Schizophyllum commune* cultivated in Mycology Laboratory, Institute of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Universiti Malaya.

With the increasing rate of disease associated with diet, foods containing bioactive compounds are crucial for health improvement and received great significance, particularly in the food industry. In this regard, *S. commune* is of a great interest due to its rich nutritional value and therefore serves as an important source of protein, polysaccharides, vitamins, lipids, mineral and variety of secondary metabolites (Chandrawanshi et al., 2017). These functioning bioactive components contribute to the nutraceutical values of *S. commune* and more specifically its antioxidant activity against (ROS) resulting from biochemical reactions in the body.

The medicinal use of *S. commune* has been widely reported in recent years. Moreover, the genetic make-up of *S. commune* has been researched thoroughly (Acharya et al., 2016).

Among the potential application of *Schizophyllum* species that includes biological response modification, non-specific stimulator of the immune system, enhancement of vaccines, and others (Hao et al., 2010).

As shown in Table 2.1, the antioxidant activity of *S. commune* has been studied previously but most work are rather preliminary with regard to the role of different antioxidative components. For instance, Abd Razak et al. (2019) have reported that temperature and extraction time influenced the scavenging activity of *S. commune* hot water extracts in which temperature (4°C) and longer extraction time (30 min) enhanced the radical scavenging activity of the extracts. Moreover, Devi et al. (2014) have worked on the ethanolic extracts of *S. commune* and correlated the presence of phenolic and flavonoids content to the radical scavenging activity of the extracts. Thus, these antioxidant properties make *S. commune* as a source of natural antioxidants. Although the antioxidant activities of polysaccharides of several mushroom species have been reported, the role of polysaccharides and other water-soluble components in the hot water extracts of *S. commune* has yet to be elucidated. While the antioxidant activity of the hot water extract of *S. commune* has been reported, little is known regarding the active components that might be responsible for the observed activity.

Mushroom part	Extraction solvent	Major findings	References
Mycelia	Acid-alkaline extraction	Melanin-like pigments extracts showed scavenging activity towards DPPH radicals. The scavenging activity increased to 96% at higher concentration (10 μ g/ μ l).	Arun et al. (2015)
Fruiting body	Hot water	Extraction at (4°C) and longer extraction time (30 min) produced extracts with a remarkable scavenging activities towards DPPH radicals (p < 0.05).	Abd Razak et al. (2019)
Fruiting body	Hot water Methanol Ethanol	The water extracts exhibited higher DPPH radical scavenging activity (IC ₅₀ : 19.26 μ g/ μ l) than methanol extracts (IC ₅₀ : 24.82 μ g/ μ l) but slightly lower than ethanol extracts (IC ₅₀ : 18.56 μ g/ μ l). However, the reducing power ability of hot water (IC ₅₀ : 20 μ g/ μ l) and methanol extracts (IC ₅₀ : 21.68 μ g/ μ l) were comparable	Chandrawanshi et al. (2017)

Table 2.1: Previous studies conducted on various Schizophyllum commune extracts to determine their antioxidant activities.

Table 2.1, continued

Mushroom part	Extraction solvent	Major findings	References
Fruiting body	Hot water	Polysaccharides extracted through ultrasound-	Chen et al. (2019)
	Different extraction	assisted technique had the highest antioxidant	
	techniques.	activities. Conversely, hot water extraction had	
		the highest polysaccharides yield and content but	
		exhibited the lowest antioxidant activities.	
Fruiting body	Ethanol	The antioxidant activities were correlated to the	Devi et al. (2014)
		presence of phenolic and flavonoid compounds.	
Fruiting body	Hot water	Chloroform extracts exhibited the highest	Emsen et al. (2017)
	Methanol	scavenging activity (IC ₅₀ :7.652 mg/ml) and	
	Chloroform	metal chelating abilities (IC50: 6.590 mg/ml).	
	<i>n</i> -hexane		
Fruiting body	Ethanol	Ethanol extracts exhibited ferric ion reducing	Gevorgyan et al. (2017)
		ability equivalent to vitamin C (13.5 VCE g/L).	
Fruiting body	Water	All extracts showed hydroxyl and DPPH radicals	Kumar et al. (2018)
	Acetone	scavenging activity.	
	Ethanol		

Table 2.1, continued.

Mushroom part	Extraction solvent	Major findings	References
Fruiting body	Hot water	The methanol extracts exhibited the highest	Mirfat et al. (2010)
	Methanol	radical scavenging activity (IC ₅₀ : 0.145 ± 0.01	
	Ethyl acetate	mg/ml) and was correlated to the total phenolic	
	Dichloromethane	content of the extracts.	
Fruiting body	Absolute methanol	The aqueous-methanol extracts exhibited the	Razak et al. (2018)
	Methanol 70%	highest radical scavenging activity up to 70%	
	Absolute ethanol	and ion reducing ability (76.61 \pm 1.79 mM Fe^{2+}/g	
	Ethanol 70%	extract).	
Mycelium Culture	Ethyl acetate	The extracts exhibited scavenging activities	Tangjitjaroenkun et al.
filtrate		towards DPPH (IC ₅₀ : 6.88 \pm 0.41 μ g/ml). In	(2020)
		addition, the extracts showed ion reducing	
		abilities (17,328.23 \pm 310.72 mM Fe ²⁺ /g extract).	

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Chemicals

The following are of analytical grade: ethanol, methanol (Kollin Chemicals, Korea); ethyl acetate, sulphuric acid and neocuproine (Friendemann Schmidt Chemical, Australia); Folin-Ciocalteu's phenol reagent, p-glucose (Merck Millipore, Germany). Sodium carbonate, iron(II) sulphate, acetic acid, 2,4,6-tripyridyl-s-triazine (TPTZ), trolox (6hydeoxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid) and butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) were obtained from R&M Chemicals, Malaysia. 2,2-azinobis-3ethylbenzothiazonline-6-sulfonic acid (ABTS), potassium persulphate, 2,2 diphenyl-1picylhydrazyl (DPPH), aluminium chloride were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Germany. Standards (purity > 95%) such as gallic acid, rutin hydrate and ascorbic acid were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, Germany. Iron(III) chloride, sodium hydroxide, sodium nitrite and sodium acetate were obtained from Friendemann Schmidt Chemical, Australia. Ammonium sulphate was obtained from QReC Chemicals, Malaysia. The Micro BCATM Protein Assay Kit and SnakeSkinTM dialysis Tubing 5 kDa MWCO were obtained from Thermo Scientific Rockford, IL, USA.

3.2 Mushrooms samples

The mycelium cultures of *S. commune* were obtained from the Mycology Laboratory, Institute of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Universiti Malaya. The mycelium cultures on agar plate were irradiated with gamma-ray at two doses, 2000 and 4000 Gy (representing the IC_{25} and IC_{50} of the treatment) for 10 minutes. The cultures were subsequently used in the production of fruiting bodies via the solid-substrate fermentation method. Sawdust supplemented with rice bran (20%, w/w) were used as substrate. The entire growing process from the inoculation to the harvesting took approximately 2 months. The strains used in this study have minor differences with respect to the size and colour of the fruiting bodies. The fruiting bodies of *P. pulmonarius* (grey oyster mushroom) and *A. bisporus* (white button mushroom) were purchased from a local supermarket in Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia. All mushroom samples were cleaned and dried using a food dehydrator (WAKimart, Malaysia) between 5 to 7 hours. The dried mushroom samples were powdered using a Waring blender. Table 3.1 shows the list of all mushroom samples used in this study.

Sample	Description			
Natural strains of <i>Schizophyllum commune</i>				
W	Natural strain isolated from Malaysia			
R	Natural strain isolated from Thailand			
Gamma-irradiated strains of S. commune				
W2000	Strain W subjected to gamma irradiation at a dose of 2000 Gy			
W4000	Strain W subjected to gamma irradiation at a dose of 4000 Gy			
R2000	Strain R subjected to gamma irradiation at a dose of 2000 Gy			
R4000	Strain R subjected to gamma irradiation at a dose of 4000 Gy			
Hybrid strains of S. commune				
WR	Hybrid of strain W and R with dominant characteristics of W			
RW	Hybrid of strain W and R with dominant characteristics of R			
Common edible mushrooms				
Pleurotus pulmonarius	Obtained from commercial sources			
Agaricus bisporus	Obtained from commercial sources			

Table 3.1: Mushroom samples used in this study

*The fruiting bodies of all *S. commune* strains were cultivated using sawdust as the main substrates.

3.3 Preparation of crude hot water extracts

The powdered fruiting bodies were soaked in 80% (v/v) aqueous ethanol at a ratio of 1:10 (w/v) for two days at room temperature under shaking condition. The extracts were then filtered and the residues were air-dried before subjected to hot water extraction at a ratio of 1:20 (w/v) at 121° C for 30 min under high pressure in an autoclave. The mixtures were filtered through Fioroni filter paper 185 mm, and the residues were re-extracted twice. Supernatants from each hot water extraction were combined and freeze-dried. The crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms were kept at -20°C prior to analysis.

3.4 Determination of chemical compositions of the crude hot water extracts

3.4.1 Total sugar content

Total sugar content of the extracts was assayed by the phenol-sulphuric acid method (Masuko et al., 2005). A 50 μ l of sample was added in a well followed by 150 μ l of concentrated sulphuric acid and 30 μ l of 5% (w/v) phenol in water. The mixture was shaken then heated for 5 min at 90°C in a static water bath. After cooling to room temperature, the absorbance was measured at 490 nm. A calibration curve of glucose (0-1000 μ g/ml) was plotted and results were expressed as mg carbohydrate/g extract.

3.4.2 Total protein content

Total protein content of the extracts was estimated using the Micro BCATM Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). A 200 μ l of the working reagent, prepared by mixing 50 part of reagent A and 1 part of reagent B, was added to 25 μ l of sample. The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 30 min. After cooling to room temperature, the absorbance was measured at 562 nm. A calibration curve of bovine serum albumin (0- $2000 \mu g/ml$) was prepared and results were expressed as mg protein/g extract.

3.4.3 Total phenolic content

Total phenolic content of the extracts was measured using the Folin-Ciocalteu method by Singleton and Rossi (1965) with modifications. A 25 μ l of 1 N Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was added into 50 μ l of sample and the mixture was incubated for 5 min. Then, 100 μ l of sodium carbonate solution (0.57 M) and 75 μ l of milliQ water were added respectively. The final volume was 250 μ l. The mixture was incubated for 2 h and the absorbance was measured at 760 nm. A calibration curve of gallic acid (0-0.2 mg/ml) was prepared and results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE)/g extract.

3.4.4 Total flavonoid content

Total flavonoid content (TFC) of the extracts was determined using the aluminium chloride colorimetric method by Liu et al. (2008) with slight modifications. A 100 μ l of extracts was mixed with 10 μ l of 5% (w/v) sodium nitrite. After incubation for 5 min, 10 μ l of 10% (w/v) aluminium chloride was added. Following 6 min incubation, 100 μ l of 1 M sodium hydroxide and 30 μ l of milliQ water were added respectively. The final volume was 250 μ l. The absorbance was read at 510 nm. A calibration curve of rutin (0-0.1 mg/ml) was prepared and results were expressed as mg rutin equivalents (RE)/g extract.

3.5 Assessment of antioxidant activity of crude hot water extracts

Different *in vitro* antioxidant assays, such as 2,2-diphenyl--picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) scavenging activity assay, trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (ABTS), ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP), and cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) were

used to evaluate the antioxidant activity of the extracts. The crude hot water extracts of mushrooms were initially dissolved in water to produce stock solutions (20 mg/ml) and diluted further to the desired concentrations for the assays.

3.5.1 Diphenyl-2-pricryl-hydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay

The DPPH free radical scavenging activity of the extracts was measured according to the method of Brand-Williams et al. (1995) with slight modifications. Briefly, 50 μ l of the extract was mixed with 195 μ l of DPPH methanolic solution, and the mixture was incubated for 30 min in the dark. The absorbance values were measured at 515 nm. The percentage of DPPH radical scavenging activity was calculated according to the following equation:

DPPH radical scavenging activity (%) =
$$[(A_{control} - A_{sample}) / A_{control}] \times 100$$

Where; $A_{control}$ = absorbance of DPPH radicals without sample or standard and A_{sample} is the absorbance of DPPH radicals with sample.

Trolox was used as a standard (0-2 mM) and the results were expressed as trolox equivalents (mmol TE/g extract). Gallic acid, rutin, ascorbic acid and butylated hydroxytoluene (1 mg/ml) were used as positive controls.

3.5.2 2,2-azino-bis (3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) or ABTS⁺ scavenging assay

ABTS is a stable radical cation used to measure the trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity. The assay was done according to Re et al. (1999). The reagent was prepared by mixing 7 mM of ABTS solution with 2.45 mM potassium persulphate. The mixture was incubated for 16 h at room temperature in the dark. The stock solution of ABTS was adjusted to obtain the desired absorbance of 0.70 ± 0.05 at 734 nm. A 300 µl of the ABTS reagent was

added to 3 μ l of extract. After 6 min the absorbance values were measured at 734 nm. The percentage of ABTS scavenging activity was calculated according to the following equation:

ABTS radical scavenging activity (%) = $[(A_{control} - A_{sample}) / A_{control}] \times 100$

Where; A_{control} is the absorbance of ABTS radical cations without sample or standard, and A_{sample} is the absorbance of ABTS radical cations with sample or standard.

Trolox was used as a standard (0-4 mM) and the results were expressed as trolox equivalents (mmol TE/g extract). Gallic acid, rutin, ascorbic acid and butylated hydroxytoluene (1 mg/ml) were used as positive controls.

3.5.3 Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay

The assay was done according to the method of Benzie and Strain (1996). The FRAP reagent was prepared by adding 300 mM acetate buffer, 10 mM of TPTZ in 40 mM HCl and 20 mM of ferric chloride solution at a ratio of 10:1:1 (v/v/v). Briefly, 300 μ l of FRAP reagent was added to 5 μ l of extract, and the mixture was incubated for 30 min at 37°C. The absorbance was measured at 595 nm. A calibration curve of iron(II) sulphate (0-4 mM) was prepared and the results were expressed as mmol Fe²⁺/g extract. Gallic acid, rutin, ascorbic acid and butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) (1 mg/ml) were used as positive controls.

3.5.4 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC) assay

The CUPRAC assay was done according to Apak et al. (2005) with slight modifications. The CUPRAC test solution was prepared by adding 50 μ l of copper(II) chloride (10 mM), neocuproine (7.5 mM) and acetate buffer (1000 mM, pH 7). A 150 μ l of the CUPRAC reagent was added to 50 μ l of extract. The mixture was incubated in the dark at room temperature for 30 min. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm. A calibration ³²

curve of trolox (0-1 mM) was prepared and the results were expressed as trolox equivalents (mmol TE/g extract). Gallic acid, rutin, ascorbic acid (0.1 mg/ml) and butylated hydroxytoluene (1 mg/ml) were used as positive controls.

3.6 Fractionation of selected crude hot water extracts of S. commune

The crude hot water extracts of the *S. commune* strains W and W4000 were selected for further study. The powdered fruiting bodies (20 g) of the selected strains were again subjected to aqueous ethanol and hot water extraction as described in Section 3.3. After that, the crude hot water extracts were collected and subjected to liquid-liquid extraction and precipitation procedures. The processes of hot water extraction and fractionation of the selected *S. commune* strains are shown in Figure 3.1.

3.6.1 Liquid-liquid extraction

The resulting hot water extracts were partitioned with ethyl acetate (1:1, v/v) to give the ethyl acetate-soluble and water fractions. The ethyl acetate fractions of strains W and W4000 were termed as W-EA and W4000-EA, respectively. The water fractions of strains W and W4000 were termed as W-H₂O and W4000-H₂O, respectively. Excess solvents in the organic and water fractions were removed using a rotary evaporator. The water-soluble components in the water fractions were then precipitated using two different methods namely ammonium sulphate precipitation and ethanol precipitation.

3.6.2 Ammonium sulphate precipitation

Powdered ammonium sulphate (60.3 g) was gradually added into the aqueous fraction until 90% (w/v) saturation was achieved and the mixture was left overnight with continuous stirring at 4°C. Then, the mixture was centrifuged and the pellet was re-dissolved in distilled

water. The fraction was extensively dialyzed (SnakeSkin[™] dialysis Tubing 5 kDa MWCO, Thermo Scientific, USA) against distilled water at 4°C for 3 days with the water being changed every 12 h before being freeze-dried. These fractions were termed as WS1. The fractions obtained from strains W and W4000 were termed as W-WS1 and W4000-WS1, respectively. The samples were kept at -20°C prior to analysis.

3.6.3 Ethanol precipitation

Ethanol was added to the water fractions until the final concentration of ethanol was 80% (v/v). The mixture was left overnight at 4°C without stirring. Following that, the mixture was centrifuged at 10,000 ×g for 20 min and the pellet was washed with acetone and ethanol, successively, before re-dissolved in water. The fraction was also subjected to dialysis against distilled water at 4°C for 3 days before being freeze-dried. Theses fractions were termed as WS2. The fractions obtained from strains W and W4000 were termed as W-WS2 and W4000-WS2, respectively. The ethanol supernatant was also collected and dried to yield the EtOH fractions. The fractions W-EtOH and W4000-EtOH were obtained from strains W and W4000, respectively. The samples were kept at -20°C prior to analysis.



Figure 3.1: Extraction and fractionation of selected strains of S. commune.

The process of extraction and fractionation of the two selected strains of *S. commune* W and W4000 to obtain water-soluble fractions (H₂O, WS1 and WS2), and organic fractions (EA and EtOH).

3.7 Assessment of chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of *S. commune* fractions

The water-soluble and organic solvent fractions of *S. commune* were dissolved in water and dimethyl sulphoxide, respectively, to produce stock solutions (20 mg/ml). The chemical compositions of the fractions were determined as described in Section 3.4. The antioxidant activities of the fractions were assessed as described in Section 3.5.

3.8 Statistical analysis

All analyses were performed in triplicates. Results were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (n=3). All data were statistically analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software, version 25.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA). One-way ANOVA was used to compare means among the groups. Pearson's correlation was used to analyse the relationship between chemical components and antioxidant activities of the extracts. A p value < 0.05 will be regarded as significant.

4.1 Yield of crude hot water extracts

The yields of the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains, *P. pulmonarius* and *A. bisporus* are shown in Table 4.1. The overall yield of the extracts (%, w/w) of *S. commune* (9.0 - 13.4%) was comparatively higher than those of *P. pulmonarius* (11.2%) and *A. bisporus* (white button) (8.6%). Amongst the *S. commune* strains, the yield of both natural strains W and R were lower than that of the strains obtained from gamma irradiation and the hybrids of both strains.

Samples	Yield (%, w/w)
Schizophyllum commune strains	
W	9.02
W2000	13.07
W4000	12.76
R	9.32
R2000	11.88
R4000	13.38
WR	10.92
RW	12.76
Common edible mushrooms	
P. pulmonarius	11.24
A. bisporus	8.57

Table 4.1: The yields of crude hot water extracts of selected mushroom samples

*W; natural strain from Malaysia; W2000 and W4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains.

4.2 Chemical compositions of crude hot water mushroom extracts

The chemical compositions of the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* and common edible mushrooms are shown in Table 4.2.

4.2.1 Total sugar content

The total sugar contents of the crude extracts of *S. commune* strains, ranging from 229.95 to 596.22 mg carbohydrate/g extract, were found to be higher than both common edible mushrooms (Table 4.2). Among the *S. commune* strains, the gamma-irradiated strain R2000 have the highest sugar content (596.22 mg carbohydrate/g extract) followed by the hybrid strains WR (449.65 mg carbohydrate/g extract) and RW (468.97 mg carbohydrate/g extract).

4.2.2 Total protein content

The total protein contents of the crude extracts of *S. commune* strains ranged from 395.75 to 539.69 mg protein/g extract and these were lower than the protein contents in the extracts of both edible commercial mushrooms (Table 4.2). Regarding *S. commune* strains, the highest protein content was observed in the two natural strains W and R with protein contents (mg protein/g extract) of 539.69 and 526.66, respectively.

4.2.3 Total phenolic content

The crude extracts of *S. commune* strains have higher phenolic contents (15.63 – 25.78 mg GAE/g extract) than *P. pulmonarius* (13.87 mg GAE/g extract) but lower than that of *A. bisporus* (29.39 mg GAE/g extract) as shown in Table 4.2. Overall, the natural strain W and its gamma-irradiated strains (W2000 and W4000) have higher phenolic content than those of natural strain R and its gamma-irradiated strains (R2000 and R4000).

4.2.4 Total flavonoid content

The crude extracts of *S. commune* strains have significantly higher flavonoid contents (4.04 - 13.45 mg RE/g extract) compared to *P. pulmonarius* (1.40 mg RE/g extract) but lower than that of *A. bisporus* (24.18 mg RE/g extract) as shown in Table 4.2. The natural strain W has the highest level of flavonoids while the other natural strain R has the lowest flavonoid content.

	Chemical Composition				
Mushrooms	Total sugars (mg carbohydrate/g extract)	Total proteins (mg protein/g extract)	Total phenolic content (mg GAE/g extract)	Total flavonoid content (mg RE/g extract)	
S. commune					
W	$327.99\pm4.36^{\text{e}}$	$539.69\pm6.05^{\circ}$	$25.78\pm0.57^{\rm a}$	13.45 ± 0.31^{b}	
W2000	$400.73\pm1.55^{\text{d}}$	442.42 ± 12.20^{e}	$20.14\pm0.79^{\rm bc}$	7.78 ± 0.95^{de}	
W4000	$414.85 \pm 17.11^{\circ}$	$430.60\pm 39.31^{\text{d}}$	22.07 ± 0.87^{b}	7.01 ± 0.73^{de}	
R	$229.95 \pm 1.61^{\rm f}$	526.66 ± 40.98^{cd}	15.95 ± 0.89^{def}	$4.04\pm0.62^{\rm f}$	
R2000	$596.22 \pm 1.72^{\rm a}$	480.00 ± 19.68^{de}	$19.21\pm0.22^{\text{c}}$	8.76 ± 0.93^{cde}	
R4000	395.14 ± 13.27^{de}	$438.18\pm26.78^{\text{e}}$	$18.27\pm0.49^{\text{cde}}$	9.51 ± 0.46^{bcd}	
WR	449.65 ± 9.07^{bc}	440.90 ± 8.33^{e}	18.59 ± 0.36^{d}	$9.92\pm0.65^{\text{bc}}$	
RW	468.97 ± 12.61^{b}	395.75 ± 6.82^{e}	$15.63\pm0.21^{\text{ef}}$	$6.41\pm0.37^{\text{ef}}$	
P. pulmonarius	$219.06 \pm 14.98^{\rm fg}$	$666.96 \pm 12.60^{\text{b}}$	$13.87\pm1.95^{\rm f}$	1.40 ± 0.64^{g}	
A. bisporus	$204.85\pm8.25^{\text{g}}$	$684.24\pm63.58^{\text{a}}$	$29.39\pm0.16^{\rm a}$	$24.18\pm0.89^{\text{a}}$	

Table 4.2: The chemical compositions of crude hot water extracts of selected mushroom samples

 $\overline{a, b, c...}$ means with different superscripts on the same column differ significant (p <0.05).

*Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (n = 3).

*GAE, gallic acid equivalent; RE, rutin equivalent.

*W; natural strain from Malaysia; W2000 and W4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R

4.3 Antioxidant activities of crude mushroom extracts

The radical scavenging activities and reducing capacities of the extracts of *S*. *commune* were evaluated and compared to the selected common edible mushrooms and positive controls.

4.3.1 DPPH radical scavenging activities

The abilities of the mushrooms' hot water extracts to scavenge the DPPH free radicals, expressed as trolox equivalents, is depicted in Figure 4.1. The extracts of *S. commune* strains (1.17 - 1.78 mmol TE/g extract) showed either higher or comparable antioxidant capacity compared to *P. pulmonarius* (1.35 mmol TE/g extract) but were weaker than that of *A. bisporus* (2.01 mmol TE/g extract). Amongst the strains of *S. commune*, the natural strain W showed the highest antioxidant activity while the other natural strain R showed the lowest antioxidant activity. The positive controls including ascorbic acid (2.66 mmol TE/g), gallic acid (2.62 mmol TE/g), rutin (2.52 mmol TE/g) and BHT (2.50 mmol TE/g) showed relatively high antioxidant capacity compared to the mushroom extracts.



Figure 4.1: DPPH free radical scavenging activities of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms.

^{a, b, c...} means with different superscripts on the bars (p <0.05). W; natural strain from Malaysia; W2000 and W4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; P. p. *Pleurotus pulmonarius;* A. b, *Agaricus bisporus*.

4.3.2 ABTS⁺ scavenging activities

The abilities of the mushrooms' hot water extracts to scavenge the ABTS radicals, expressed as trolox equivalents, is depicted in Figure 4.2. The antioxidant capacities of the crude extracts of *S. commune* strains (0.11 - 0.15 mmol TE/g extract) were higher compared to *P. pulmonarius* (0.08 mmol TE/g extract) but lower than that of *A. bisporus* (0.19 mmol TE/g extract). The natural strain W has the most potent ABTS radical scavenging ability amongst the strains of *S. commune*. The positive controls including ascorbic acid (4.12 mmol TE/g), gallic acid (4.07 mmol TE/g), rutin (1.97 mmol TE/g) and BHT (0.08 mmol TE/g) showed relatively high antioxidant capacity compared to the mushroom extracts.



Figure 4.2: ABTS⁺ scavenging activities of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms.

^{a, b, c...} means with different superscripts on the bars (p <0.05). W; natural strain from Malaysia; W2000 and W4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; P. p. *Pleurotus pulmonarius;* A. b, *Agaricus bisporus*.

4.3.3 Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP)

The ferric ion-reducing capacity of the mushroom extracts is shown in Figure 4.3. With the exception of natural strain R, the crude extracts of all *S. commune* strains ($0.35 - 0.50 \text{ mmol Fe}^{2+}/\text{g}$ extract) showed higher FRAP value than *P. pulmonarius* ($0.27 \text{ mmol Fe}^{2+}/\text{g}$ extract); however, *A. bisporus* ($0.72 \text{ mmol Fe}^{2+}/\text{g}$ extract) have showed the highest ferric ion reducing capacity. Amongst the strains, the highest FRAP value was observed for the natural strain W while strain R gave the lowest value. The ferric ion reducing capacity (mmol Fe²⁺/g) of the positive controls including ascorbic acid, gallic acid, rutin and BHT are 13.15, 6.70, 20.91 and 4.56, respectively.



Figure 4.3: Ferric ion-reducing antioxidant power of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms.

^{a, b, c...} means with different superscripts on the bars (p < 0.05). W; natural strain from Malaysia; W2000 and W4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; P. p. *Pleurotus pulmonarius;* A. b, *Agaricus bisporus*.

4.3.4 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC)

The reducing capacity of the crude extracts of selected mushrooms evaluated using the CUPRAC assay is presented in Figure 4.4. The reducing capacity of the extracts of *S. commune* strains (0.08 - 0.15 mmol TE/g extract) was higher than that of *P. pulmonarius* (0.06 mmol TE/g extract) but lower than that of *A. bisporus* (0.16 mmol TE/g extract). The natural strain W also showed the highest reducing capacity while the lowest reducing capacity was observed in the natural strain R. The gamma-irradiated strains of W showed lower activity than the natural strain W; however, an opposite trend was observed for the gamma-irradiated strains of R which showed higher activity than the natural strain R. The cupric ion reducing capacity (mmol TE/g) of the positive controls including ascorbic acid, gallic acid, rutin and BHT are 6.97, 11.95, 5.16 and 0.83, respectively.



Figure 4.4: Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacities of the crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms.

^{a, b, c...} means with different superscripts on the bars (p <0.05). W; natural strain from Malaysia; W2000 and W4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; WR and RW, two hybrid strains; R, natural strain isolated from Thailand; R2000 and R4000, two gamma-irradiated strains; P. p. *Pleurotus pulmonarius;* A. b, *Agaricus bisporus*.

4.3.5 Pearson's correlation analysis of antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of extract from *S. commune* samples

Pearson's correlation analysis of the chemical composition and antioxidant activities of the crude extracts was conducted and results were presented in Table 4.3. Significant and strong positive relationships (p < 0.01) were obtained between total flavonoid content and the antioxidant activities of the extracts assessed by the two reducing power assays FRAP (r = 894) and CUPRAC (r = 0.728). Likewise, the correlation coefficients between the reducing activities of the extracts and total phenolic content showed highly significant and strong positive relationships FRAP (r = 0.827) and CUPRAC (r = 0.826). Significant and strong positive relationships between the scavenging activities of the extracts and total phenolic content DPPH (r = 0.782) and ABTS (r = 0.796). The correlation between ABTS radical scavenging activity of the extracts and total protein content was significant but moderate positive relationship (r = 0. 518, p < 0.01). The correlations between antioxidant activities and the total sugar content of the extracts were very weak (r = 0.139 - r = 0.374).

Parameters	DPPH (mmol TE/g extract)	ABTS (mmol TE/g extract)	FRAP (mmol Fe ²⁺ /g extract)	CUPRAC (mmol TE/g extract)
Total sugar content	0.374	-0.130	0.233	0.139
Total protein content	0.285	0.518**	0.305	0.333
Total phenolic content	0.782**	0.796**	0.827**	0.826**
Total flavonoid content	0.723**	0.672**	0.894**	0.728**

Table 4.3: Pearson's correlation coefficients between various chemical compositions parameters and antioxidant activities of the crude hot water extracts.

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

4.4 Yield of S. commune fractions

The crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000 consistently showed high antioxidant activity in all assays; therefore, both strains were selected for further fractionation. In the first step, liquid-liquid extraction yielded the ethyl acetate (EA) and water (H_2O) fractions. A portion of the water fraction was then subjected to two different procedures i.e., ammonium sulphate precipitation and ethanol precipitation to recover fractions that were enriched with water-soluble components, including WS1 and WS2. The ethanol supernatant in the ethanol precipitation method was dried to yield the EtOH fraction. The yields of all fractions (expressed on a dry weight basis) are shown in Table 4.4.

	Yield (%, w/w)			
Fraction	S. commune strain	S. commune strain		
	W	W4000		
Ethyl acetate (EA)	0.07	0.05		
Water (H ₂ O)	9.41	6.01		
Water-soluble component (WS1)	18	22.71		
Water-soluble component (WS2)	53.36	71.28		
Ethanol (EtOH)	3.0	2.3		

Table 4.4: The yields of fractions of S. commune strains W and W4000

*The fractions were derived from the crude hot water extracts of S. commune strains W and W4000.

4.5 Chemical compositions of S. commune fractions

The total sugars, proteins, phenolic and flavonoid of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000 were determined. Table 4.5 shows the chemical compositions of the fractions.

4.5.1 Total sugar content

The water-soluble fractions of both *S. commune* strains contained higher sugar content (273.57 - 628.38 mg carbohydrate/g extract) than the crude extracts (224.16 - 263.57 mg carbohydrate/g extract) (Table 4.5). Amongst the water-soluble fractions, the sugar content decreased in the order of WS1 and H₂O. The EtOH fractions have the lowest sugar content.

4.5.2 Total protein content

The water-soluble fractions, in general, contained higher protein content than the organic solvent fractions of *S. commune* strains (Table 4.5). It can be observed that the water-soluble fraction obtained by ammonium sulphate precipitation (WS1) of both strains (729.39 and 490.30 mg protein/g extract) have the highest protein content than the fraction obtained from ethanol precipitation (133.93 and 312.12 mg protein/g extract). Moreover, the protein content of the crude extracts was comparable to that of the water fractions W-H₂O and W4000-H₂O.

4.5.3 Total phenolic content

Similar trend was observed for both strains in which the ethyl acetate fractions showed the highest level of phenolics among the fractions (Table 4.5). The concentration of phenolics in W-EA (34.59 mg GAE/g extract) and W4000-EA (37.87 mg GAE/g extract)
⁴⁸

was approximately two-fold higher than those of the respective crude extracts. The watersoluble fractions also contained phenolics that were either higher or comparable to the crude extracts.

4.5.4 Total flavonoid content

Amongst the fractions of *S. commune* strains, high concentrations of flavonoids were observed in the ethyl acetate fractions that were almost ten-fold higher than the concentration of flavonoids in the crude extracts (Table 4.5). For strain W, water-soluble fractions contained flavonoid content that was comparable to the crude except for WS1. A different trend was observed for strain W4000 in which the level of flavonoids in all fractions were higher than that of the crude except for W4000-H₂O.

Fractions		Chemical c	omposition	
	Total sugars (mg carbohydrate/g extract)	Total proteins (mg protein/g extract)	Total phenolic (mg GAE/g extract)	Total flavonoid (mg RE/g extract)
S. commune strain	ı W			
W crude	$224.16 \pm 11.06^{\circ}$	457.87 ± 5.01^{b}	$22.28\pm0.28^{\texttt{b}}$	8.69 ± 0.42^{d}
W-EA	ND	ND	$34.59\pm2.46^{\rm a}$	84.55 ± 4.09^{a}
W-H ₂ O	400.53 ± 6.81^{b}	458.18 ± 7.10^{b}	19.45 ± 0.24^{cd}	$12.52\pm1.18^{\text{c}}$
W-WS1	$549.46 \pm 12.65^{\rm a}$	$729.39 \pm 25.26^{\rm a}$	29.89 ± 1.22^{a}	42.69 ± 1.74^{b}
W-WS2	$597.30 \pm 10.30^{\rm a}$	$267.87\pm7.35^{\circ}$	12.11 ± 1.44^{d}	$12.60\pm0.66^{\circ}$
W-EtOH	16.81 ± 0.45^{d}	133.93 ± 4.67^{cd}	6.43 ± 0.26^{e}	$12.25\pm0.87^{\text{c}}$
S. commune strain	a W4000			
W4000 crude	263.57 ± 13.34°	395.45 ± 8.08^{b}	18.46 ± 0.62^{b}	8.77 ± 0.80^{cd}
W4000-EA	ND	ND	$37.87\pm9.70^{\rm a}$	$71.44\pm2.94^{\mathtt{a}}$
W4000-H ₂ O	$273.57 \pm 24.92^{\circ}$	$415.45\pm13.39^{\text{a}}$	17.80 ± 0.09^{bc}	5.77 ± 0.40^{d}
W4000-WS1	409.38 ± 6.97^{b}	490.30 ± 9.64^{ab}	19.94 ± 1.14^{b}	18.21 ± 2.68^{bc}
W4000-WS2	628.38 ± 38.93^{a}	$296.06\pm10.45^{\circ}$	11.70 ± 0.44^{d}	$12.70\pm0.61^{\circ}$
W4000-EtOH	$51.12\pm2.50^{\rm d}$	312.12 ± 8.15^{bc}	18.17 ± 1.75^{bc}	$29.81\pm2.38^{\text{b}}$

Table 4.5: The chemical compositions of the fractions derived from the selected strains of *S. commune*.

a, b, c... means with different superscripts on the same column differ significantly (p <0.05).

*EA, ethyl acetate; H₂O, water-soluble fraction; WS1, water-soluble protein; WS2, water-soluble polysaccharides; EtOH, ethanol fractions. *ND = not determined. *The total sugars and total proteins of the ethyl acetate fractions were not determined due to the low yield of the fractions.

4.6 The antioxidant activities of S. commune fractions

The radical scavenging activities and reducing capacities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000 were assessed.

4.6.1 DPPH radical scavenging activities

Figure 4.5 shows the DPPH free radical scavenging activities of the fractions of *S. commune* strains expressed as trolox equivalents. The organic solvent fractions exhibited significantly higher antioxidant capacity compared to water-soluble fractions. Similar trend was observed for both strains. It is important to note that the activities of the ethyl acetate and ethanol fractions (0.42 - 0.48 mmol TE/g extract) were about four times higher than those of the crude extracts (0.09 - 0.12 mmol TE/g extract). Both ethyl acetate and ethanolic fractions also showed higher antioxidant capacity than some of the positive controls namely ascorbic acid (0.27 mmol TE/g) and gallic acid (0.26 mmol TE/g).



Figure 4.5: DPPH free radical scavenging activities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000.

^{a, b, c...} means with different superscripts on the bars (p <0.05). EA, ethyl acetate; H₂O, water-soluble fraction; WS1, water-soluble protein; WS2, water-soluble polysaccharides; EtOH, ethanol fractions.

4.6.2 ABTS⁺ scavenging activities

Figure 4.6 shows the ABTS⁺ scavenging activities of the fractions of *S. commune* strains expressed as trolox equivalents. The crude extracts of both strains exhibited higher antioxidant activity than the most of the fractions. It is noted that the fractions derived from the H₂O fraction, namely WS1, WS2 and EtOH fractions (0.03 - 0.08 mmol TE/g extract), showed significantly lower antioxidant capacity compared to EA (0.15 - 0.16 mmol TE/g extract) and H₂O (0.18 - 0.19 mmol TE/g extract). Some of the fractions showed higher activity than BHT (0.17 mmol TE/g) that was used as a positive control. The antioxidant activities of other controls expressed as mmol TE/g, including ascorbic acid, gallic acid and rutin were 4.31, 4.27 and 1.34, respectively.



Figure 4.6: ABTS⁺ scavenging activities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000.

 $^{a, b, c...}$ means with different superscripts on the bars (p <0.05). EA, ethyl acetate; H₂O, water-soluble fraction; WS1, water-soluble protein; WS2, water-soluble polysaccharides; EtOH, ethanol fractions.

4.6.3 Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP)

The reducing capacities of the fractions of *S. commune* strains, as determined by the FRAP assay, are shown in Figure 4.7. The organic solvent fractions showed better reducing capacities than the water-soluble fractions and crude extracts. In particular, both ethyl acetate fractions $(1.09 - 1.17 \text{ mmol Fe}^{2+}/\text{g} \text{ extract})$ displayed the highest reducing capacity followed by the ethanol fractions $(0.25 - 0.38 \text{ mmol Fe}^{2+}/\text{g} \text{ extract})$. The reducing capacities of the water-soluble fractions of both strains ranged from 0.08 to 0.18 mmol Fe²⁺/g extract. The positive controls showed relatively higher reducing capacity in the range of 4.56 to 13.15 mmol Fe²⁺/g.



Figure 4.7: Ferric ion-reducing antioxidant power of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000.

 $^{a, b, c...}$ means with different superscripts on the bars (p <0.05). EA, ethyl acetate; H₂O, water-soluble fraction; WS1, water-soluble protein; WS2, water-soluble polysaccharides; EtOH, ethanol fractions.

4.6.4 Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacity (CUPRAC)

The reducing capacities of the fractions of *S. commune* strains, as determined by the CUPRAC assay, are shown in Figure 4.8. The reducing capacities of the fractions ranged from 0.07 to 0.12 mmol TE/g extract with the exception of W-EtOH that showed lower activity (0.04 mmol TE/g extract). It is also noted that the reducing capacities of crude extract and fractions of *S. commune* strain W were consistently higher than those of strain W4000 except for the EtOH fractions in which an opposite trend was observed. The positive controls showed relatively higher reducing capacity in the range of 0.83 to 11.95 mmol TE/g.



Figure 4.8: Cupric ion-reducing antioxidant capacities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000.

^{a, b, c...} means with different superscripts on the bars (p <0.05). EA, ethyl acetate; H₂O, water-soluble fraction; WS1, water-soluble protein; WS2, water-soluble polysaccharides; EtOH, ethanol fractions.
4.6.5 Pearson's correlation analysis between chemical composition and antioxidant activities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000

Table 4.6 shows the Pearson's correlation coefficient for analysis between antioxidant activities and chemical composition of the extracts. A significant (p < 0.01) and moderate to strong relationships between the reducing activities of the fractions and total phenolic content FRAP (r = 0.686) and CUPRAC (r = 0.823). Same trend was observed between total flavonoid content and reducing activities of the fraction. Significant correlation but moderate positive relationship was observed between DPPH radical scavenging activity of the fractions and total flavonoid content (r = 0.626, p < 0.01). Furthermore, significant and strong negative relationships (p < 0.01) were obtained between total sugar content and the scavenging activity of the fractions towards DPPH radicals (r = -0.778). Same trend but positive relationship was observed between reducing activity of the fraction and total protein content (r = 0.753, p < 0.01).

Parameters	DPPH (mmol	ABTS (mmol TE/g	FRAP (mmol	CUPRAC (mmol TE/g
	TE/g	extract)	Fe ²⁺ /g	extract)
	extract)		extract)	
Total sugar content	-0.778**	-0.005	-0.532**	-0.128
Total protein content	-0.549**	0.176	-0.361	0.753**
Total phenolic content	0.332	0.012	0.686**	0.823**
Total flavonoid content	0.626**	-0.181	0.900**	0.479^{*}

 Table 4.6: Pearson's correlation coefficients between various chemical compositions parameters and antioxidant activities of the fractions.

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

5.1 The yields of S. commune hot water extracts and their selected fractions

Efficient extraction of antioxidants and other biologically active molecules requires the use of solvents with different polarities. Certain antioxidant molecules are more soluble in polar solvents such as methanol and water while non-polar solvents like hexane or dichloromethane are preferable for isolating lipophilic compounds. In this current study, sequential extraction methods were utilized to obtain hot water extracts that were mainly composed of water-soluble compounds and eliminate the presence of other low molecular weight molecules. Ethanol extraction was initially conducted to remove apolar compounds, such as lipids and other secondary metabolite molecules, followed by hot water extraction to isolate the high molecular weight components such as polysaccharides and proteins.

The yields (w/w) of crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* ranged between 9.02 and 13.38%, and these values were lower than in previous studies that used direct hot water extraction method. For example, the yield of hot water extract obtained by Chandrawanshi et al. (2019) was 19.60% whereas the yields obtained by Abd Razak et al. (2019) ranged between 12.94 and 17.79% using two different temperatures; 4°C and 30°C, and at different extraction times. Furthermore, the yields of *S. commune* crude extracts were slightly higher than that of *Agaricus bisporus* (8.57%) but comparable to the yield of *Pleurotus pulmonarius* (11.24%). It is noticeable that *S. commune* strains subjected to gamma irradiation showed higher yield than the natural or hybrid strains. Similarly, Rashid et al. (2015) have found that the yields of *Pleurotus sajor-caju* irradiated mycelium increased gradually as the dose of γ -irradiation increased from 23.10% to 39.82%. Likewise, the extraction yields of *Antrodia camphorate* mycelia increased with higher doses of gamma irradiation up to 15 kGy from 47.6% to 53.1% (Huang & Mau, 2007).

The conventional liquid-liquid partitioning was used for the extraction of lowmolecular weight compounds from water extracts. The extraction yields of the fractions derived from crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000 varied from one strain to another. The highest yields were obtained from the water-soluble fractions W-WS2 (53.36%) and W4000-WS2 (71.28%). The yields from semi-polar solvents such as ethyl acetate were found at very low levels that ranged between 0.05 to 0.07% compared to polar solvents (ethanol and water). This suggests that the crude extracts consist of mainly water-soluble components with a small proportion of secondary metabolites that are likely to be retained in the ethyl acetate fractions. The findings here are comparable to a previous study conducted by Kim (2012) who reported that the yield of the ethyl acetate fraction was (1.05%) which was lower than the yield of water-soluble fraction (35.68%).

5.2 Chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of crude hot water extracts of *S. commune*

The chemical composition of mushroom species may be affected by several variables such as genetic structure, strains, maturation stage, environmental conditions as well as irradiation and hybridisation (Appels et al., 2018; Bellettini et al., 2019; Cardoso et al., 2019; Mleczek et al., 2020; Oropeza-Guerrero et al., 2018; Sakamoto, 2018;). The results obtained in the current work have shown that crude hot water extracts of different strains contain carbohydrates, protein, phenolic and flavonoid compounds. However, the total content of these components varied from one strain to another.

It was reported that, in mushroom hot water extracts, the predominant components are carbohydrates and proteins (Singh et al., 2020) and a similar trend was observed in the present study. Different doses of gamma irradiation have influenced the total sugar contents of the *S. commune* strains W and R. The total sugar content increased with the increased doses of gamma irradiation up to 2 and 4 kGy. Gamma irradiation might cause genetic mutation leading to an overexpression of certain genes encoding polysaccharides synthesis (Mahmood et al., 2019). Similarly, the carbohydrate content of *Pleurotus osteratus* ethanol extracts increased gradually as the dose of gamma irradiation increased (San et al., 2019). The two hybrid strains with different dominant characteristics (WR and RW) also yielded higher sugar content than the two natural strains of *S. commune* (W and R). These results are consistent with those of other studies and suggest that the increase of total sugar contents of the hybrid strains is most likely related to the changes in the genetic structure leading to an overexpression of genes encoding polysaccharides synthesis (Liu et al., 2017; Raman et al., 2021).

Protein is the major component next to carbohydrates in mushroom. According to the results, the total soluble protein contents of *S. commune* strains (W and R) has decreased gradually with gamma irradiation increments up to the dose 4 kGy. These results differed from some published studies. For instance, Weng et al. (2004) reported that the gamma irradiated strains of *Agaricus bazei* Murrill contain higher protein content than the non-irradiated strains. According to Sathesh-Prabu and Lee (2016), mutation altering the non-coding region of a gene will cause different protein production, the estimated protein concentration between the natural and gamma irradiated strains will change according to the dose of mutagenesis.

Several studies have investigated the total phenolic content of *S. commune* hot water extracts. The total phenolic contents recorded in this study are comparable to those reported by Emsen et al. (2017) who recorded 12.32 mg GAE/g of phenolic content in the water extract of *S. commune*. Generally, gamma irradiation either decreased or increased

the total phenolic content. For the natural strain W, different doses of gamma irradiation have slightly decreased the total phenolic content. Surprisingly, for the natural strain R, gamma irradiation doses 2 and 4 kGy significantly influenced the phenolic content in comparison with non-irradiated strain. The reason for such changes is still unclear but based on previous studies, the effect of gamma irradiation on the chemical composition of mushroom may be influenced by factors such as genetic mutation that may cause certain changes in the synthesis of bioactive components, species type, geographical and environmental conditions, and dose of gamma irradiation (Tsai et al., 2014).

Furthermore, the total flavonoid contents of the *S. commune* crude hot water extracts were lower than their total phenolic contents. The findings of the current study are consistent with those of Emsen et al. (2017) who reported that the amount of total flavonoid content of *S. commune* water extract was significantly lower than total phenols. Another important finding was that gamma irradiated strains (R2000 and R4000) have higher flavonoid contents than the parental strain (R). Both hybridised strains (WR and RW) have higher flavonoid contents compared to the natural strain R. Our results are in agreement with a previous study conducted by Oropeza-Guerrero et al. (2018) who reported that the hybrid strains of *Pleurotus djamor* exhibited higher flavonoid content (6.89 mg QE/100 g extract) than the parental strains (2.22 mg QE/100 g extract).

An initial objective of this work was to determine the antioxidant activities of *S*. *commune* crude hot water extracts used, and highlight the potential links between the chemical composition and antioxidant activities. Thus, various *in vitro* chemical assays have been developed to measure the antioxidant capacities of mushrooms products. A number of these assays depend on the generation of free radicals as their initial step and later they would be scavenged by the particular sample. Based on the reaction mechanisms involved, antioxidant assays can be divided into two major groups; those based on hydrogen transfer (HAT) reactions and others involving single electron transfer (SET) reactions (Shahidi & Zhong, 2015). In this study, four antioxidant assays were used to evaluate the antioxidant activity of the extracts. The crude hot water extracts of *S. commune, P. pulmonarius* and *A. bisporus* were evaluated.

The ABTS⁺ and DPPH assays were utilized to measure the radical scavenging activities of crude hot water extracts of selected mushrooms. Our results showed that the natural strain W possessed the highest phenolic and flavonoid contents among the different S. commune strains and showed higher scavenging activities than P. pulmonarius water extract. Comparable results were reported by a study conducted on five different mushrooms including S. commune reported that hot water extracts of S. commune exhibited higher DPPH radical scavenging activity than P. pulmonarius extracts (Tepsongkroh et al., 2019). It has been reported that the IC₅₀ of S. commune crude hot water extract (19.36 μ g/ μ l) was higher than the methanol (24.82 μ g/ μ l) and ethanol (18.56 µg/µl) extracts (Chandrawanshi et al., 2017). Furthermore, several studies showed that crude hot water extracts of S. commune had the ability to scavenge DPPH radicals (Emsen et al., 2017; Kumar et al., 2018). Nonetheless, the ABTS⁺ scavenging activities of S. commune crude hot water extracts were lower than that of Tepsongkroh et al. (2019). This result may be explained by the fact that bioactive compounds of the water extracts may act differently towards different free radicals. Also, these assays use different chromogenic redox reagents with different standard potentials (Apak et al., 2007).

The ion reducing activity of the crude water extracts was tested by two assays, FRAP and CUPRAC. The present study tested the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* W and gamma-irradiated strains and were found to have ion reducing activities higher than that of *P. pulmonarius* water extract. Similarly, in a previous study, the crude hot water extract of *S. commune* exhibited better reducing activity than several *Pleurotus* spp. (Abdullah et al., 2012). Water extracts of *S. commune* possessed electron-transfer capacities indicating the significant reducing power of the extracts (Sudha et al., 2012). In the CUPRAC assay, the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* showed stronger reducing capacities than those of *P. pulmonarius* and this is in agreement with the previous findings by Abdullah et al. (2012).

The natural strains of *S. commune* showed different degrees of antioxidant activities in all assays. The strain obtained from Malaysia demonstrated higher radical scavenging abilities than the strain obtained from Thailand. The geographical origin and corresponding climatic conditions have been reported by several researchers to impose a significant impact on the genetic structure and the chemical composition of mushroom's mycelium. Hence, the changes in the antioxidant activities of the cultivated fruiting bodies under the same growth conditions, are correlated to the genetic diversity of the strains (Al-Laith, 2010; Rašeta et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2020).

In the current study, the strains were exposed to irradiation and were grown under the same conditions. Thus, the exposure of the mycelium to gamma rays at different doses might cause genetic mutation and generate new strains (Huang & Mau, 2007; Djajanegara, 2008). Our data showed that gamma irradiated strains R2000 and R4000 exhibited better scavenging activity and reducing power in all assays than the natural strain R. Similarly, San et al. (2019) found that the antioxidant activity of *Pleurotus osteratus* extract increased with higher doses of gamma irradiation. The observed increase in the antioxidant activities of the extracts could be attributed to genetic mutation because gamma rays are high-energy electromagnetic waves that have the ability to penetrate cell walls of mushroom's mycelia causing a breakdown in DNA structure and changing the purine and pyrimidine bases (Wang et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2015). Thus, gamma irradiation may induce mutations in terms of chromosome number, morphological structure, and growth behavior (Mohajer et al., 2014). Recently, Liu et al. (2019) demonstrated the genetic differences between the gamma irradiated and parental strains using random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers suggesting a change in the DNA of the gamma irradiated strain. According to Djajanegara (2008), mutation might cause changes in the gene expression encoding biosynthetic enzymes resulting in an increase in the production and accumulation of bioactive components with antioxidative activity. Furthermore, Pelcaru et al. (2021) have found that the mutation caused by gamma irradiation may stimulate the synthesis of bioactive compounds with antioxidant activities in *Fomes fomentarius* mycelium. Moreover, Jyothi and Thara (2021) reported the DNA variation of the mutants from single base pair change to repeated sequences. The polymorphism analysis by RAPD markers revealed that *P. djamor*, *P. florida* and *P. ostreatus* had 16.7%, 25% and 22% polymorphism with their respective improved strains.

Hybridisation is a method used to exchange the genetic information between two compatible nuclei and generate a recombinant genome with a probable expression for a desirable trait (Kaur et a., 2008). Furthermore, the exchange of genes between two nuclei during hybridisation may produce hybrids with diverse genetic materials and this may also result in differential expression of genes between the hybrid strains compared to the parental strains. According to Raman et al. (2021), the genetic profile of ten hybrids was detected using inter-simple sequence repeats (ISSR) and RAPD markers, the results depicted those hybrids contain polymorphic bands indicating the rearrangement and deletion in genetic structure. Moreover, Liu et al. (2017) reported that certain hybrids have higher concentrations of polysaccharides and triterpenes than that of parental strains. Similarly, in the current study, higher antioxidant activity of the hybrid strains (WR and RW) than the natural strain R may be due to the differences in the chemical composition between the strains. The present findings seem to be consistent with other research which found that hybrid strains of *Pleurotus* spp. showed higher antioxidant activity than the parental strains (Oropeza-Guerrero et al., 2018). It can thus be suggested that the potency of hybrid strains to scavenge free radicals is mainly contributed to the presence of higher phenolic compounds as compared with the parental strains (Oropeza-Guerrero et al., 2018).

In general, the chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of *S. commune* hot water extracts were relatively higher than those of *P. pulmonarius* and comparable to *A. bisporus*. This study confirms that *S. commune* water extracts contain an abundant amount of bioactive compounds that act as antioxidants. Moreover, this finding has important implications on future studies to take into consideration that *S. commune* can be a source of natural antioxidants.

Based on the results of the correlation analysis, it is pertinent to suggest that total phenolic contents and total flavonoid contents present in the *S. commune* crude hot water extracts were the main contributors to the observed antioxidant effect. This is in agreement with previous reports by Cheung et al. (2003) and Shah et al. (2018). Both reported that the water extracts showed a significant correlation between the scavenging activity and the total phenolic and flavonoid contents.

5.3 Chemical compositions and antioxidant activities of the fractions derived from the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* strains W and W4000

The second objective of this study was to determine the bioactive compounds responsible for the antioxidant activities of *S. commune strains*. Thus, liquid-liquid partitioning by ethyl acetate of the crude water extracts was used to isolate low-molecular weight compounds from high-molecular weight compounds such as proteins and polysaccharides.

Overall, according to the results obtained, the water-soluble fractions of *S. commune* are mainly enriched with carbohydrates and proteins. The WS2 of the gamma irradiated strain W4000 have higher total sugar content compared to the WS2 of the natural strain W. It is encouraging to compare this result with those of Wang et al. (2005) who reported that gamma-irradiated strains have higher polysaccharides than non-irradiated strain. These findings further support the idea that mutagenesis such as gamma rays might cause changes in the genetic structure, hence increases the synthesis of bioactive compounds. Moreover, the water-soluble protein fraction of *S. commune* strain W possesses the highest phenolic and flavonoid contents among all water-soluble fractions. Similarly, the total phenolic contents of the water-soluble protein fractions obtained from *P. pulmonarius* was higher than the total phenolic contents of water-soluble polysaccharides and the crude extracts (Abidin et al., 2016).

Two organic fractions were produced in the fractionation stage. Based on our results, the ethanolic and ethyl acetate fractions were enriched with low-molecular weight compounds such as phenolic and flavonoid compounds. It is essential to determine the total contents of phenolic compounds in the organic fractions derived from water extracts because these fractions are mostly active due to the presence of these secondary metabolites (Buruleanu et al., 2018; Siu et al., 2014). This study confirms that ethyl acetate fractions W-EA and W4000-EA contain the highest phenolic content among all fractions. The findings of the current study are consistent with those of Rajput et al. (2020) who worked on different fractions derived from *Ophiocordyceps sinensis* water extracts, and found that the ethyl acetate fractions have high content of phenolic compounds than the crude extracts. Furthermore, the ethyl acetate fractions showed the highest level of flavonoid contents among all water-soluble fractions and crude extracts.

High contents of organic compounds in semi-polar fractions derived from polar extracts may be explained by the fact that the polarity and solubility of phenolic molecules may increase due to the presence of sugars or unsubstituted –OH group (Moreno & Peinado, 2012). Furthermore, hot water extraction might cause disruption to the cell wall structure resulting in easier release of bound polyphenolic and flavonoid compounds (Tepsongkroh et al., 2019). Moreover, phenolic compounds have a polar and semi-polar nature. Thus, through fractionation process, ethyl acetate fractions derived from water extracts may contain phenolic compounds presence in the cell wall and attached to sugar molecules through glycosidic bond (Cheung, 2008; Ferreira et al., 2009).

The antioxidant activities of the water-soluble and organic fractions were determined and compared to the activities of the crude extracts that were prepared in the fractionation stage. The activities of the tested fractions towards free radicals were based on the soluble components and the principle of the assay. However, it should be noted that, in some cases, a mixture of compounds may display better bioactivity than a single isolated active fraction because of the synergistic effects (Williamson, 2001; Caesar & Cech, 2019).

Based on the current results, the ethyl acetate fractions exhibited strong scavenging activity towards free radicals amongst water-soluble fractions and crude extracts, similar to the obtained findings by Kim (2011). In addition, the total reduction activities served as a significant indicator of the potential antioxidant activity. In the current study, the ethyl acetate fractions showed the highest reducing activities amongst all tested fractions. Similar observations on the potency of the ethyl acetate fractions, representing the compounds with intermediate polarity, have been reported earlier by several researchers (Mishra et al., 2018; Rajput et al., 2020).

Overall, separation of bioactive compounds based on molecular weight using a semi-polar solvent such as ethyl acetate, was successful. Due to high temperatures used in preparing water extracts, Jeong et al. (2004) suggested that soluble polyphenols can be liberated by heat treatment. Furthermore, Liu et al. (2014) reported that during hot water extraction, the viscosity and surface tension of water decrease, while diffusivity and solubility of the polyphenols increase. According to Minatel et al. (2017), polyphenols can be found either combined with mono- and polysaccharides in the cell wall or linked Thus, thermal processing method may liberate to one or more phenolic group. polyphenols compounds from insoluble portion of mushroom, that increases the accumulation of bioaccessible antioxidant compounds (Choi et al., 2006). In addition, the unique molecular structure, particularly the number and position of hydroxyl groups give polyphenols the ability to inactivate free radicals (Choi et al., 2006; Minatel et al., 2017). Moreover, these bioactive compounds are highly soluble in semi-polar solvents such as ethyl acetate. Therefore, ethyl acetate fractions displayed the highest antioxidant activities in DPPH and FRAP assays among water-soluble fractions and the crude extracts. To identify the exact type of compounds, further work is required which involve complete purification of the components and further analysis using chromatographic and spectroscopic techniques.

However, the crude polysaccharides and other water-soluble components in the fractions showed only moderate to weak antioxidant activities. Our results are in contrast with previous reports which indicated that polysaccharides showed better antioxidant activity than the crude extracts (Vas et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2018). As mentioned in the literature review, the antioxidant activities of polysaccharides may vary between one assay to another, and depends on the structural characteristics that involve glycosidic bond and chemical compositions (Gong et al., 2020). According to Thetsrimuang et al. (2011), crude polysaccharides might contain soluble compounds responsible for the

antioxidant activities of the extracts such as reducing sugars. These soluble compounds might be active towards certain types of free radicals. For example, Chen et al. (2015) found that the crude polysaccharides obtained from several mushrooms possessed remarkable hydroxyl and DPPH radicals scavenging activities.

On the other hand, Cai et al. (2015) have reported that crude polysaccharides obtained from *Auricularia auricular-judae* showed high scavenging activity towards $ABTS^+$, and this indicates that the soluble compounds in the crude polysaccharides have hydrogen donating ability. While the antioxidant activities of the high-molecular weight components of *S. commune* might be low, the fractions may exhibit other bioactivities like antitumor and immunomodulating activities (Yelithao et al., 2019; Zhong et al., 2015).

In general, according to our results, the functional groups of organic compounds from the analysed water extracts of *S. commune* are mainly phenolic compounds. Therefore, organic fractions were more active as antioxidants than water-soluble fractions and the crude extracts. In accordance with the present results, Choi et al. (2006) suggested that hot water extraction might cause disruption of the cell walls resulting in easier release of bound polyphenolic compounds which, in turn, increases the antioxidant activities of the extracts. Data were published indicating that the presence of phenolic compounds in the water extracts/fractions was highly involved in the antioxidant activities of the extracts (Cheung et al., 2003; Ramírez-Anguiano et al., 2007). These results are supported by Pearson's correlation analysis as shown in the Table 4.6, where the total phenolic and flavonoid contents of the fractions showed significant correlations with their ion reducing activities/capacities. The presence of low molecular weight compounds, possibly phenolic compounds, in the fractions/crude extracts are the main contributors to the antioxidant activity of *S. commune* crude hot water extracts.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

In the present study, the antioxidant activities of the various strains of S. commune were investigated and compared with two commonly eaten mushrooms, P. pulmonarius and A. bisporus. Chemical composition of the extracts and fractions of selected strains were determined and correlated to their radical scavenging and reducing capacities. Our results indicated that, in general, the antioxidant activities of the crude hot water extracts of S. commune strains were higher than those of P. pulmonarius. The crude hot water extracts of S. commune strains W and the gamma-irradiated strain W4000 displayed the highest antioxidant activities. Further fractionation of strains W and W4000 yielded several water-soluble and organic fractions. It was observed that the organic fractions, in particular the ethyl acetate fractions exhibited the highest scavenging activities towards DPPH radicals and ion reducing activities in FRAP assay among all tested fractions. Correlation analysis showed that phenolic and flavonoid compounds present in both crude hot water extracts and their fractions are the main contributors to the antioxidant activities of the extracts and fractions of S. commune strains, suggesting that these low-molecularweight compounds played a bigger role in the overall antioxidant activities of the hot water extracts of S. commune.

There are several recommendations for further study. First of all, strains improvement in this study via irradiation and hybridisation needs to be further investigated. An increase in the antioxidant activities of certain gamma-irradiated strains was observed in this study. Thus, further research regarding the effect of gamma-irradiation on the levels of bioactive components in mushrooms would be worthwhile. Also, identification and characterization of the polar low-molecular weight compounds would help us to understand better the antioxidant activities of the hot water extracts of *S. commune*.

In conclusion, the current comparative study showed that the crude hot water extracts of *S. commune* contain a variety of metabolites with diverse antioxidant activities. Our results contributed additional evidence that the low molecular-weight compounds, in addition to the high-molecular-components like polysaccharides and proteins, are also responsible for the overall antioxidant activities exhibited by the water extracts of *S. commune*. With all certainty, *S. commune* contains an abundant amount of natural antioxidants and thus, is recommended as a valuable constituent of the daily diet.

University

REFERENCES

- Abd Razak, D. L., Fadzil, N. H., Jamaluddin, A., Abd Rashid, N. Y., Sani, N. A., & Manan, M. A. (2019). Effects of different extracting conditions on anti-tyrosinase and antioxidant activities of *Schizophyllum commune* fruit bodies. *Biocatalysis* and Agricultural Biotechnology, 19, 101-116.
- Abdullah, N., Ismail, S. M., Aminudin, N., Shuib, A. S., & Lau, B. F. (2012). Evaluation of selected culinary-medicinal mushrooms for antioxidant and ACE inhibitory activities. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2012,1-12.
- Abidin, M. H., Abdullah, N., & Abidin, N. Z. (2016). Protective effect of antioxidant extracts from grey oyster mushroom: *Pleurotus pulmonarius* (Agaricomycetes), against human low density lipoprotein oxidation and aortic endothelial cell damage. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 18(2), 109-121.
- Abugri, D. A., & McElhenney, W. H. (2013). Extraction of total phenolic and flavonoids from edible wild and cultivated medicinal mushrooms as affected by different solvents. *Journal of Natural Product and Plant Resources*, *3*(3), 37-42.
- Acharya, K., Ghosh, S., & Dutta, A. K. (2016). Pharmacognostic standardization based on physicochemical and molecular parameters of a medicinal mushroom *Schizophyllum commune. Oriental Pharmacy and Experimental Medicine*, 16(4), 259-266.
- Al Joudi, F. S. (2013). Adverse effects of excessive antioxidant supplements and their underlying mechanisms. *The Journal of Aging Research and Clinical Practice*, 2(4), 339-345.
- Al-Laith, A. A. (2010). Antioxidant components and antioxidant/antiradical activities of desert truffle (*Tirmania nivea*) from various Middle Eastern origins. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 23(1), 15-22.
- Allen, K., & Cornforth, D. (2007). Antioxidant mechanism of milk mineral high affinity iron binding. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(1), 78-83.
- Apak, R., Guclu, K., Demirata, B., Ozyurek, M., Celik, S. E., Bektasoglu, B., ... & Ozyurt, D. (2007). Comparative evaluation of various total antioxidant capacity assays applied to phenolic compounds with the CUPRAC assay. *Molecules*, 12(7), 1496-1547.

- Apak, R., Guçlu, K., Ozyurek, M., Karademi, E. N., & Altun, M. (2005). Total antioxidant capacity assay of human serum using copper (II)-neocuproine as chromogenic oxidant: The CUPRAC method. *Free Radical Research*, 39(9), 949-961.
- Appels, F. V., Dijksterhuis, J., Lukasiewicz, C. E., Jansen, K. M., Wösten, H. A., & Krijgsheld, P. (2018). Hydrophobin gene deletion and environmental growth conditions impact mechanical properties of mycelium by affecting the density of the material. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1-7.
- Arun, G., Eyini, M., & Gunasekaran, P. (2015). Characterization and biological activities of extracellular melanin produced by *Schizophyllum commune* (Fries). *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, 53, 380-387.
- Asatiani, M. D., Elisashvili, V., Songulashvili, G., Reznick, A. Z., & Wasser, S. P. (2010). Higher basidiomycetes mushrooms as a source of antioxidants. *Progress in Mycology: Springer, Dordrecht*, 311-326.
- Azmir, J., Zaidul, I., Rahman, M., Sharif, K., Mohamed, A., Sahena, F., ...& Omar, A. (2013). Techniques for extraction of bioactive compounds from plant materials: A review. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 117(4), 426-436.
- Baral, D., Roy, A., & Thapa, S. (2018). Strain improvement in oyster mushroom (*Pleurotus* sp.) through hybridization. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Innovation*, 7(4), 286-289.
- Barba, F. J., Zhu, Z., Koubaa, M., Sant'Ana, A. S., & Orlien, V. (2016). Green alternative methods for the extraction of antioxidant bioactive compounds from winery wastes and by products: A review. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 49, 96-109.
- Barh, A., Sharma, V. P., Annepu, S. K., Kamal, S., Sharma, S., & Bhatt, P. (2019). Genetic improvement in *Pleurotus* (oyster mushroom): A review. 3 Biotech Journal, 9(9), 1-14.
- Bellettini, M. B., Fiorda, F. A., Maieves, H. A., Teixeira, G. L., Ávila, S., Hornung, P. S.,
 ... & Ribani, R. H. (2019). Factors affecting mushroom *Pleurotus* spp. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 26(4), 633-646.
- Benzie, I. F., & Strain, J. J. (1996). The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": The FRAP assay. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 239(1), 70–76.

- Berdahl, D. R., Nahas, R. I., & Barren, J. P. (2010). Synthetic and natural antioxidant additives in food stabilization: Current applications and future research. *Oxidation in Foods and Beverages and Antioxidant Applications*, *1*, 272-320.
- Bozdoğan, A., Ulukanlı, Z., Bozok, F., Eker, T., Dogan, H. H., & Buyukalaca, S. (2018). Antioxidant potential of *Lactarius deliciosus* and *Pleurotus ostreatus* from Amanos Mountains. *International Quarterly Journal of Life Sciences*, 5(3), 113-120.
- Brand-Williams, W., Cuvelier, M. E., & Berset, C. (1995). Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. *LWT- Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 28(1), 25–30.
- Brigelius-Flohé, R., & Maiorino, M. (2013). Glutathione peroxidases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects*, 1830(5), 3289-3303.
- Buruleanu, L. C., Radulescu, C., Georgescu, A. A., Danet, F. A., Olteanu, R. L., Nicolescu, C. M., & Dulama, I. D. (2018). Statistical characterization of the phytochemical characteristics of edible mushroom extracts. *Analytical Letters*, 51(7), 1039-1059.
- Caesar, L. K., & Cech, N. B. (2019). Synergy and antagonism in natural product extracts: When 1+1 does not equal 2. *Natural Product Reports*, *36*(6), 869-888.
- Cai, M., Lin, Y., Luo, Y. L., Liang, H. H., & Sun, P. (2015). Extraction, antimicrobial, and antioxidant activities of crude polysaccharides from the wood ear medicinal mushroom Auricularia auricula-judae (higher basidiomycetes). International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms, 17(6), 591-600.
- Cardoso, R. V., Fernandes, Â., Barreira, J. C., Verde, S. C., Antonio, A. L., Gonzaléz-Paramás, A. M., ... & Ferreira, I. C. (2019). Effectiveness of gamma and electron beam irradiation as preserving technologies of fresh *Agaricus bisporus* Portobello: A comparative study. *Food Chemistry*, 278, 760-766.
- Chakraborty, U., & Sikdar, S. R. (2008). Production and characterization of somatic hybrids raised through protoplast fusion between edible mushroom strains *Volvariella volvacea* and *Pleurotus florida*. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 24(8), 1481-1492.

- Chakraborty, U., & Sikdar, S. R. (2010). Intergeneric protoplast fusion between *Calocybe indica* (milky mushroom) and *Pleurotus florida* aids in the qualitative and quantitative improvement of sporophore of the milky mushroom. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 26(2), 213-225.
- Chakravarty, B. (2011). Trends in mushroom cultivation and breeding. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Engineering*, 2(4), 102-109.
- Chan, K. W., Iqbal, S., Khong, N. M., & Babji, A. S. (2011). Preparation of deodorized antioxidant rich extracts from 15 selected spices through optimized aqueous extraction. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*, 5(25), 6067-6075.
- Chanda, A., Roze, L. V., Kang, S., Artymovich, K. A., Hicks, G. R., Raikhel, N. V., ... & Linz, J. E. (2009). A key role for vesicles in fungal secondary metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(46), 19533-19538.
- Chandrawanshi, N. K., Tandia, D. K., & Jadhav, S. K. (2017). Nutraceutical properties evaluation of *Schizophyllum commune*. *Indian Journal of Scientific Research*, 13(2), 57-62.
- Chandrawanshi, N. K., Tandia, D. K., & Jadhav, S. K. (2019). Determination of Anti-Diabetic Property of organic and nonorganic solvent extracts of *Schizophyllum commune. NewBio World, 1*(1), 5-8.
- Chattopadhyay, A., Holkar, S. K., & Meena, S. C. (2014). Recent molecular genetics and biotechnological approaches in mushroom research. *Microbial Biodiversity in Sustainable Agriculture. New Delhi: Daya Publishing House, Astral International* (P) Ltd, (3), 23-43.
- Chen, J., Zhang, T., Jiang, B., Mu, W., & Miao, M. (2012). Characterization and antioxidant activity of *Ginkgo biloba* exocarp polysaccharides. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 87(1), 40-45.
- Chen, P., Yong, Y., Gu, Y., Wang, Z., Zhang, S., & Lu, L. (2015). Comparison of antioxidant and antiproliferation activities of polysaccharides from eight species of medicinal mushrooms. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 17(3), 287-295.
- Chen, Q. X., Ke, L. N., Song, K. K., Huang, H., & Liu, X. D. (2004). Inhibitory effects of hexylresorcinol and dodecylresorcinol on mushroom (*Agaricus bisporus*) tyrosinase. *The Protein Journal*, 23(2), 135-141.

- Chen, R., Meng, F., Liu, Z., Chen, R., & Zhang, M. (2010). Antitumor activities of different fractions of polysaccharide purified from *Ornithogalum caudatum* Ait. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 80(3), 845-851.
- Chen, Y., Xie, M. Y., Nie, S. P., Li, C., & Wang, Y. X. (2008). Purification, composition analysis and antioxidant activity of a polysaccharide from the fruiting bodies of *Ganoderma atrum. Food Chemistry*, 107(1), 231-241.
- Chen, Z., Yin, C., Fan, X., Ma, K., Yao, F., Zhou, R., ... & Gao, H. (2019). Characterization of physicochemical and biological properties of *Schizophyllum commune* polysaccharide extracted with different methods. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*. *165*, 1425-1434.
- Cheung, L. M., Cheung, P. C., & Ooi, V. E. (2003). Antioxidant activity and total phenolics of edible mushroom extracts. *Food Chemistry*, 81(2), 249-255.
- Cheung, P. C. (2008). Mushrooms as functional foods. (pp. 89-94). Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Cheung, P. C. (2010). The nutritional and health benefits of mushrooms. *Nutrition Bulletin*, 35(4), 292-299.
- Choi, Y., Lee, S. M., Chun, J., Lee, H. B., & Lee, J. (2006). Influence of heat treatment on the antioxidant activities and polyphenolic compounds of Shiitake (*Lentinus* edodes) mushroom. Food Chemistry, 99(2), 381-387.
- Chowdhary, A., Randhawa, H. S., Gaur, S. N., Agarwal, K., Kathuria, S., Roy, P., ... & Meis, J. F. (2013). *Schizophyllum commune* as an emerging fungal pathogen: A review and report of two cases. *Mycoses*, 56(1), 1-10.
- Chowdhury, M. M. H., Kubra, K., & Ahmed, S. R. (2015). Screening of antimicrobial, antioxidant properties and bioactive compounds of some edible mushrooms cultivated in Bangladesh. *Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials*, 14(1), 1-6.
- Cohen, N., Cohen, J., Asatiani, M. D., Varshney, V. K., Yu, H. T., Yang, Y. C., ... & Wasser, S. P. (2014). Chemical composition and nutritional and medicinal value of fruit bodies and submerged cultured mycelia of culinary-medicinal higher basidiomycetes mushrooms. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 16(3), 273-291.

- Cor, D., Knez, Z., & Knez Hrncic, M. (2018). Antitumour, antimicrobial, antioxidant and antiacetylcholinesterase effect of *Ganoderma lucidum* terpenoids and polysaccharides: A review. *Molecules*, 23(3), 649-662.
- Curimbaba, T. F., Almeida-Junior, L. D., Chagas, A. S., Quaglio, A. E., Herculano, A. M., & Di Stasi, L. C. (2020). Prebiotic, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of edible Amazon fruits. *Food Bioscience*, *36*(2010), 1-9.
- Dan, K. U. (2010). Breeding by UV mutation of high yield *Pleurotus eryngii* strains. *Journal of Anhui Agricultural Sciences*, 2010, 1-16.
- De Silva, D. D., Rapior, S., Fons, F., Bahkali, A. H., & Hyde, K. D. (2012). Medicinal mushrooms in supportive cancer therapies: An approach to anti-cancer effects and putative mechanisms of action. *Fungal Diversity*, 55(1), 1-35.
- De Silva, D. D., Rapior, S., Sudarman, E., Stadler, M., Xu, J., Alias, S. A., & Hyde, K. D. (2013). Bioactive metabolites from macrofungi: Ethnopharmacology, biological activities and chemistry. *Fungal Diversity*, 62(1), 1-40.
- Devi, L. S., Dasgupta, A., Chakraborty, M., Borthakur, S. K., & Singh, N. I. (2014). Chemical composition and antioxidant activity of Schizophyllum commune. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research, 27(2), 173-177.
- Di Meo, S., Reed, T. T., Venditti, P., & Victor, V. M. (2016). Role of ROS and RNS sources in physiological and pathological conditions. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2016, 1-44*.
- Dizdaroglu, M., & Jaruga, P. (2012). Mechanisms of free radical induced damage to DNA. *Free Radical Research*, 46(4), 382-419.
- Djajanegara, I. (2008). White oyster mushroom (*Pleurotus florida*) mutant with altered antioxidant contents. *Biotrofla: The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Biology*, 15(1), 65-73.
- Du, M., Zhao, L., Li, C., Zhao, G., & Hu, X. (2007). Purification and characterization of a novel fungi Se-containing protein from Se-enriched Ganoderma lucidum mushroom and its Se-dependent radical scavenging activity. European Food Research and Technology, 224(5), 659-665.

- Dulay, R. M., Miranda, L. A., Malasaga, J. S., Kalaw, S. P., Reyes, R. G., & Hou, C. T. (2017). Antioxidant and antibacterial activities of acetonitrile and hexane extracts of *Lentinus tigrinus* and *Pleurotus djamour. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology*, 9, 141-144.
- Elkhateeb, W. A., Daba, G. M., Thomas, P. W., & Wen, T. C. (2019). Medicinal mushrooms as a new source of natural therapeutic bioactive compounds. *Egyptian Pharmaceutical Journal*, 18(2), 88-101.
- Emsen, B., Kocabas, A., Kaya, A., Cinar, S., Aasim, M., & Sadi, G. (2017). *In vitro* cytotoxicity, antibacterial and antioxidant properties of various extracts from *Schizophyllum Commune* Fr. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin, 26*, 1144-1153.
- Farzaneh, P., Khanahamadi, M., Ehsani, M. R., & Sharifan, A. (2018). Bioactive properties of *Agaricus bisporus* and *Terfezia claveryi* proteins hydrolyzed by gastrointestinal proteases. *LWT-Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 91, 322-329.
- Feeney, M. J., Dwyer, J., Hasler-Lewis, C. M., Milner, J. A., Noakes, M., Rowe, S., ... & Castlebury, L. A. (2014). Mushrooms and health summit proceedings. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 144(7), 1128-1136.
- Fernandes, Â., Barreira, J. C., Antonio, A. L., Oliveira, M. B., Martins, A., & Ferreira, I. C. (2016). Extended use of gamma irradiation in wild mushrooms conservation: Validation of 2 kGy dose to preserve their chemical characteristics. *LWT-Journal* of Food Science and Technology, 67, 99-105.
- Ferraro, V., Venturella, G., Pecoraro, L., Gao, W., & Gargano, M. L. (2020). Cultivated mushrooms: Importance of a multipurpose crop, with special focus on Italian fungiculture. *Plant Biosystems-An International Journal Dealing with all Aspects* of *Plant Biology*, 1-11.
- Ferreira, I. C., Barros, L., & Abreu, R. (2009). Antioxidants in wild mushrooms. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 16(12), 1543-1560.
- Ferreira, I., A Vaz, J., Vasconcelos, M. H., & Martins, A. (2010). Compounds from wild mushrooms with antitumor potential. Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry: Formerly Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents, 10(5), 424-436.

- Freitas, K. H. G., & Fatibello-Filho, O. (2010). Simultaneous determination of butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA) and butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) in food samples using a carbon composite electrode modified with Copper(II) phosphate immobilized in polyester resin. *Talanta*, 81(3), 1102-1108.
- Friedman, M. (2016). Mushroom polysaccharides: chemistry and anti-obesity, antidiabetes, anti-cancer, and anti-biotic properties in cells, rodents, and humans. *Foods*, 5(4), 80-120.
- Gąsecka, M., Siwulski, M., & Mleczek, M. (2018). Evaluation of bioactive compounds content and antioxidant properties of soil-growing and wood-growing edible mushrooms. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 42(1), 1-10.
- Gevorgyan, V. S., Nanagulyan, S. G., Chantikyan, A. A., & Seferyan, T. Y. (2017). Assessment of antioxidant activities of some medicinal fungal extracts. *Chemistry and Biology*, *51*(3), 163-165.
- Gogoi, R., Rathaiah, Y., & Borah, T. R. (2019). Mushroom Cultivation Technology. (pp. 1-119). Jodhpur, India: Scientific Publishers.
- Gong, P., Wang, S., Liu, M., Chen, F., Yang, W., Chang, X., ... & Chen, X. (2020). Extraction methods, chemical characterizations and biological activities of mushroom polysaccharides: A mini-review. *Carbohydrate Research*, 494, 1-30.
- Goodman, D. L., McDonnel, J. T., Nelson, H. S., Vaughan, T. R., & Weber, R. W. (1990). Chronic urticaria exacerbated by the antioxidant food preservatives, butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA) and butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT). *Journal of Allergy* and Clinical Immunology, 86(4), 570-575.
- Gunathilake, K. P., & Ranaweera, K. K. (2016). Antioxidative properties of 34 green leafy vegetables. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 26, 176-186.
- Haas, E. M. (2006). Staying healthy with nutrition, 21st century edition: The complete guide to diet and nutritional medicine. *Random House Digital, Inc.*
- Halliwell, B. (2006). Reactive species and antioxidants: Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life. *Plant Physiology*, *141*(2), 312-322.

- Hao, L. M., Xing, X. H., Li, Z., Zhang, J. C., Sun, J. X., Jia, S. R., ... & Wu, T. (2010). Optimization of effect factors for mycelial growth and exopolysaccharide production by *Schizophyllum commune*. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 160(2), 621-631.
- He, L., He, T., Farrar, S., Ji, L., Liu, T., & Ma, X. (2017). Antioxidants maintain cellular redox homeostasis by elimination of reactive oxygen species. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, 44(2), 532-553.
- He, R., Girgih, A. T., Malomo, S. A., Ju, X., & Aluko, R. E. (2013). Antioxidant activities of enzymatic rapeseed protein hydrolysates and the membrane ultrafiltration fractions. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *5*(1), 219-227.
- Herttuala, S. (1999). Oxidized LDL and atherogenesis. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 874(1), 134-137.
- Hu, Y. N., Sung, T. J., Chou, C. H., Liu, K. L., Hsieh, L. P., & Hsieh, C. W. (2019). Characterization and antioxidant activities of yellow strain *Flammulina velutipes* (Jinhua Mushroom): Polysaccharides and their effects on ROS content in L929 cell. *Antioxidants*, 8(8), 298-313.
- Huang, S. J., & Mau, J. L. (2007). Antioxidant properties of methanolic extracts from *Antrodia camphorata* with various doses of γ-irradiation. *Food Chemistry*, 105(4), 1702-1710.
- Igielska-Kalwat, J., Gościańska, J., & Nowak, I. (2015). Carotenoids as natural antioxidants. *Postepy Higieny i Medycyny Doswiadczalnej (Online)*, 69, 418-428.
- Jaswal, R. K., Sodhi, H. S., Kapoor, S., & Khanna, P. K. (2013). Development of high yielding morphologically improved strains of *Pleurotus* through interspecific hybridization. *The Indian Journal of Agriculture Sciences*, *83*, 374-379.
- Jeeva, J. S., Sunitha, J., Ananthalakshmi, R., Rajkumari, S., Ramesh, M., & Krishnan, R. (2015). Enzymatic antioxidants and its role in oral diseases. *Journal of Pharmacy* and Bioallied Sciences, 7(2), 331-333.
- Jeong, S. M., Kim, S. Y., Kim, D. R., Jo, S. C., Nam, K. C., Ahn, D. U., & Lee, S. C. (2004). Effect of heat treatment on the antioxidant activity of extracts from citrus peels. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52(11), 3389-3393.

- Jeong, Y. T., Yang, B. K., Jeong, S. C., Kim, S. M., & Song, C. H. (2008). Ganoderma applanatum: A promising mushroom for anti-tumor and immunomodulating activity. Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 22(5), 614-619.
- Jiang, J., & Xiong, Y. L. (2016). Natural antioxidants as food and feed additives to promote health benefits and quality of meat products: A review. *Meat Science*, *120*, 107-117.
- Jiang, Q. (2014). Natural forms of vitamin E: Metabolism, antioxidant, and antiinflammatory activities and their role in disease prevention and therapy. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 72, 76-90.
- Moreno, J., & Peinado, R. (2012). Enological chemistry. (pp. 77-93). Cambridge, Massachusetts: Academic Press.
- Juntachote, T., Berghofer, E., Siebenhandl, S., & Bauer, F. (2006). The antioxidative properties of Holy basil and Galangal in cooked ground pork. *Meat Science*, 72(3), 446-456.
- Jyothi, K. R., & Thara, S. S. (2021). Development of improved strain in species of *Pleurotus* by gamma irradiation. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 1-8.
- Kao, P., Wang, S., Hung, W., Liao, Y., Lin, C., Yang, W. (2012). Structural characterization and antioxidative activity of low molecular weights β-1,3-glucan from the residue of extracted *Ganoderma lucidum* fruiting bodies. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2012, 1-8.
- Karovičová, J., & Šimko, P. (2000). Determination of synthetic phenolic antioxidants in food by high performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography* A, 882(1-2), 271-281.
- Kaur, J., Sodhi, H. S., & Kapoor, S. (2008). Breeding of *Pleurotus florida* (oyster mushroom) for phenotypic pigmentation and high yield potential. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 88(15), 2676-2681.
- Keleş, A., Koca, I., & Gençcelep, H. (2011). Antioxidant properties of wild edible mushrooms. *Journal of Food Processing and Technology*, 2(6), 2-6.

- Khatun, S., Islam, A., Cakilcioglu, U., & Chatterjee, N. C. (2012). Research on mushroom as a potential source of nutraceuticals: A review on Indian perspective. *Journal of Experimental Agriculture International*, 2(1), 47-73.
- Kim, J. H. (2011). Physiological activities of hot water extract and solvent fractions of *Pleurotus ferulea*. *The Korean Journal of Mycology*, *39*(3), 189-193.
- Kim, J. H. (2012). Biological activities of water extract and solvent fractions of an edible mushroom, *Hericium erinaceus*. *The Korean Journal of Mycology*, 40(3), 159-163.
- Kimatu, B. M., Zhao, L., Biao, Y., Ma, G., Yang, W., Pei, F., & Hu, Q. (2017). Antioxidant potential of edible mushroom (*Agaricus bisporus*) protein hydrolysates and their ultrafiltration fractions. *Food Chemistry*, 230, 58-67.
- Kostuyk, V. A., & Potapovich, A. I. (2009). Mechanisms of the suppression of free radical overproduction by antioxidants. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, 1, 179-188.

Krinsky, N. I. (2001). Carotenoids as antioxidants. Nutrition, 17(10), 815-817.

- Krishnaiah, D., Sarbatly, R., & Bono, A. (2007). Phytochemical antioxidants for health and medicine: A move towards nature. *Biotechnology and Molecular Biology Review*, 1(4), 97-104.
- Krüzselyi, D., Vetter, J., Ott, P. G., Darcsi, A., Béni, S., Gömöry, Á., ... & Móricz, Á. M. (2019). Isolation and structural elucidation of a novel brunnein-type antioxidant β-carboline alkaloid from *Cyclocybe cylindracea*. *Fitoterapia*, *137*, 1-6.
- Kumar, A., Ali, S., Lal, S. B., & Sinha, M. P. (2018). Mycochemical screening and determination of nutritive potency and antioxidant activity of edible macrofungi Dacryopinax spathularia and Schizophyllum commune. World Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, 7(16), 1311-1321.
- Kumara, K. W., & Edirimanna, I. C. (2009). Improvement of strains of two oyster mushroom cultivars using duel culture technique. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 7(5), 654-660.
- Kumari, D., Reddy, M. S., & Upadhyay, R. C. (2011). Antioxidant activity of three species of wild mushroom genus *Cantharellus* collected from North Western Himalaya, India. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 13(3), 415-418.

- Kuo, M. (2003). Schizophyllum commune. Retrieved from the MushroomExpert. Com, Web site: http://www.mushroomexpert.com/hericium_erinaceus.html.
- Kwon, M. J., Kim, B., Lee, Y. S., & Kim, T. Y. (2012). Role of superoxide dismutase 3 in skin inflammation. *Journal of Dermatological Science*, 67(2), 81-87.
- Landete, J. M. (2013). Dietary intake of natural antioxidants: Vitamins and polyphenols. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 53(7), 706-721.
- Lee, D. H., Yang, M., Giovannucci, E. L., Sun, Q., & Chavarro, J. E. (2019). Mushroom consumption, biomarkers, and risk of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes: A prospective cohort study of US women and men. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 110(3), 666-674.
- Li, M., Zhu, K. X., Guo, X. N., Brijs, K., & Zhou, H. M. (2014). Natural additives in wheat-based pasta and noodle products: Opportunities for enhanced nutritional and functional properties. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 13(4), 347-357.
- Li, N., Yan, C., Hua, D., & Zhang, D. (2013). Isolation, purification, and structural characterization of a novel polysaccharide from *Ganoderma* capense. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 57, 285-290.
- Liu, H., Qiu, N., Ding, H., & Yao, R. (2008). Polyphenols contents and antioxidant capacity of 68 Chinese herbals suitable for medical or food uses. *Food Research International*, 41(4), 363–370.
- Liu, J. Y., Feng, C. P., Li, X., Chang, M. C., Meng, J. L., & Xu, L. J. (2016). Immunomodulatory and antioxidative activity of *Cordyceps militaris* polysaccharides in mice. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 86, 594-598.
- Liu, J., Sandahl, M., Sjöberg, P. J., & Turner, C. (2014). Pressurised hot water extraction in continuous flow mode for thermolabile compounds: Extraction of polyphenols in red onions. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 406(2), 441-445.
- Liu, P., Yuan, J., Jiang, Z., Wang, Y., Weng, B., & Li, G. (2019). A lower cadmium accumulating strain of *Agaricus brasiliensis* produced by 60Co-γ-irradiation. *LWT-Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 114, 1-7.

- Liu, S. R., Ke, B. R., Zhang, W. R., Liu, X. R., & Wu, X. P. (2017). Breeding of new Ganoderma lucidum strains simultaneously rich in polysaccharides and triterpenes by mating basidiospore-derived monokaryons of two commercial cultivars. Scientia Horticulturae, 216, 58-65.
- Lü, J. M., Lin, P. H., Yao, Q., & Chen, C. (2010). Chemical and molecular mechanisms of antioxidants: Experimental approaches and model systems. *Journal of Cellular* and Molecular Medicine, 14(4), 840-860.
- Lu, M., Yuan, B., Zeng, M., & Chen, J. (2011). Antioxidant capacity and major phenolic compounds of spices commonly consumed in China. *Food Research International*, 44(2), 530-536.
- Mahmood, I., Mohamad, A., Daud, F., Othman, B. A., Law, D., Hoong, C. Y., ... & Fazry, S. (2019). Potential mutant of *Lentinula edodes* with high yield of (1-3), (1-6-), β-D-glucan. *Malaysian Journal of Fundamental and Applied Sciences*, 15(2-1), 336-340.
- Maity, K., Kar, E., Maity, S., Gantait, S. K., Das, D., Maiti, S., ... & Islam, S. S. (2011). Structural characterization and study of immunoenhancing and antioxidant property of a novel polysaccharide isolated from the aqueous extract of a somatic hybrid mushroom of *Pleurotus florida* and *Calocybe indica* variety APK2. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 48(2), 304-310.
- Mallick, S. K., Maiti, S., Bhutia, S. K., & Maiti, T. K. (2010). Antitumor properties of a heteroglucan isolated from *Astraeus hygrometricus* on Dalton's lymphoma bearing mouse. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 48(8-9), 2115-2121.
- Mani, A., Thawani, V., & Zaidi, K. U. (2016). An effective approach of strain improvement in Cordyceps militaris using abrin. Current Research in Environmental and Applied Mycology, 6(3), 166-172.

Marnett, L. J. (2000). Oxyradicals and DNA damage. Carcinogenesis, 21(3), 361-370.

- Masuko T, Minami A, Iwasaki N, Majima T, & Mishimura. (2005). Carbohydrate analysis by a phenol-sulphuric acid method in microplate format. *Analytical Biochemistry Journal*, 339, 69–72.
- Miles, P. G., & Chang, S. T. (2004). Mushrooms: Cultivation, nutritional value, medicinal effect, and environmental impact. (pp. 27-47). *Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.*

- Minatel, I. O., Borges, C. V., Ferreira, M. I., Gomez, H. A., Chen, C. Y., & Lima, G. P. P. (2017). Phenolic compounds: Functional properties, impact of processing and bioavailability. *Phenolic Compounds Biological Activity*. (pp. 1-24). *London, UK: IntechOpen*.
- Mirfat, A. H., Noorlidah, A., & Vikineswary, S. (2010). Scavenging activity of *Schizophyllum commune* extracts and its correlation to total phenolic content. *Journal of Tropical Agriculture and Food Science*, 38(2), 231-238.
- Mirończuk-Chodakowska, I., Witkowska, A. M., & Zujko, M. E. (2018). Endogenous non-enzymatic antioxidants in the human body. *Advances in Medical Sciences*, 63(1), 68-78.
- Mishra, J., Joshi, A., Rajput, R., Singh, K., Bansal, A., & Misra, K. (2018). Phenolic rich fractions from mycelium and fruiting body of *Ganoderma lucidum* inhibit bacterial pathogens mediated by generation of reactive oxygen species and protein leakage and modulate hypoxic stress in HEK 293 cell line. *Advances in Pharmacological Sciences*, 2018, 1-10.
- Mittal, M., Siddiqui, M. R., Tran, K., Reddy, S. P., & Malik, A. B. (2014). Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 20(7), 1126-1167.
- Mittler, R. (2017). ROS are good. Trends in Plant Science, 22(1), 11-19.
- Mleczek, M., Gąsecka, M., Budka, A., Niedzielski, P., Siwulski, M., Kalač, P., ... & Rzymski, P. (2020). Changes in mineral composition of six strains of *Pleurotus* after substrate modifications with different share of nitrogen forms. *European Food Research and Technology*, 1-13.
- Mohajer, S., Mat Taha, R., Lay, M. M., Khorasani Esmaeili, A., & Khalili, M. (2014). Stimulatory effects of gamma irradiation on phytochemical properties, mitotic behaviour, and nutritional composition of Sainfoin (*Onobrychis viciifolia* Scop.). *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014, 1-9.
- Moon, B., & Lo, Y. M. (2014). Conventional and novel applications of edible mushrooms in today's food industry. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 38(5), 2146-2153.
- Mukherjee, P. K., Horwitz, B. A., & Kenerley, C. M. (2012). Secondary metabolism in *Trichoderma*: A genomic perspective. *Microbiology*, 158(1), 35-45.

- Muszyńska, B., Grzywacz-Kisielewska, A., Kała, K., & Gdula-Argasińska, J. (2018). Anti-inflammatory properties of edible mushrooms: A review. *Food Chemistry*, 243, 373-381.
- Naveena, B. M., Sen, A. R., Vaithiyanathan, S., Babji, Y., & Kondaiah, N. (2008). Comparative efficacy of pomegranate juice, pomegranate rind powder extract and BHT as antioxidants in cooked chicken patties. *Meat Science*, *80*(4), 1304-1308.
- Nicholls, P. (2012). Classical catalase: Ancient and modern. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 525(2), 95-101.
- Nie, S., Zhang, H., Li, W., & Xie, M. (2013). Current development of polysaccharides from *Ganoderma*: Isolation, structure and bioactivities. *Bioactive Carbohydrates and Dietary Fibre*, 1(1), 10-20.
- Nieuwenhuis, B. P., Debets, A. J., & Aanen, D. K. (2011). Sexual selection in mushroom: Forming basidiomycetes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 278(1702), 152-157.
- Nukata, M., Hashimoto, T., Yamamoto, I., Iwasaki, N., Tanaka, M., & Asakawa, Y. (2002). Neogrifolin derivatives possessing antioxidative activity from the mushroom *Albatrellus ovinus*. *Phytochemistry*, 59(7), 731-737.
- Oboh, G., & Shodehinde, S. A. (2009). Distribution of nutrients, polyphenols and antioxidant activities in the pilei and stipes of some commonly consumed edible mushrooms in Nigeria. *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Ethiopia*, 23(3), 391-398.
- Ohm, R. A., De Jong, J. F., Lugones, L. G., Aerts, A., Kothe, E., Stajich, J. E., ... & Bartholomew, K. A. (2010). Genome sequence of the model mushroom *Schizophyllum commune*. *Nature Biotechnology*, *28*(9), 957-963.
- Oropeza-Guerrero, M. P., Santos-Sánchez, N. F., Salas-Coronado, R., Valadez-Blanco, R., Hernández-Carlos, B., & Guadarrama-Mendoza, P. C. (2018). Productivity and Antioxidant Activity of Wild, Reconstituted, and Hybrid Strains of the Pink Oyster Mushroom, *Pleurotus djamor* (Agaricomycetes), from Mexico. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 20(7), 607-621.
- Palacios, I., Lozano, M., Moro, C., D'arrigo, M., Rostagno, M. A., Martínez, J. A., ... & Villares, A. (2011). Antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds occurring in edible mushrooms. *Food Chemistry*, 128(3), 674-678.

- Pelcaru, C. F., Ene, M., Petrache, A. M., & Neguț, D. C. (2021). Low doses of gamma irradiation stimulate synthesis of bioactive compounds with antioxidant activity in *Fomes fomentarius* living mycelium. *Applied Sciences*, 11(9), 4236-4248.
- Pereira, E., Barros, L., Martins, A., & Ferreira, I. C. (2012). Towards chemical and nutritional inventory of Portuguese wild edible mushrooms in different habitats. *Food Chemistry*, 130(2), 394-403.
- Perez-Jimenez, J., Arranz, S., Tabernero, M., Diaz-Rubio, M. E., Serrano, J., Goni, I., & Saura-Calixto, F. (2008). Updated methodology to determine antioxidant capacity in plant foods, oils and beverages: Extraction, measurement and expression of results. *Food Research International*, 41(3), 274-285.
- Phaniendra, A., Jestadi, D. B., & Periyasamy, L. (2015). Free radicals: properties, sources, targets, and their implication in various diseases. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 30(1), 11-26.
- Pieszka, M., Gogol, P., Pietras, M., & Pieszka, M. (2015). Valuable components of dried pomaces of chokeberry, black currant, strawberry, apple and carrot as a source of natural antioxidants and nutraceuticals in the animal diet. *Annals of Animal Science*, 15(2), 475-491.
- Pop, A. N., Berce, C., Bolfa, P. O., Nagy, A. N., Catoi, C., Dumitrescu, I. B., ... & Loghin, F. E. (2013). Evaluation of the possible endocrine disruptive effect of butylated hydroxyanisole, butylated hydroxytoluene and propyl gallate in immature female rats. *Farmacia*, 61(1), 202-211.
- Qasim, M., Abideen, Z., Adnan, M. Y., Gulzar, S., Gul, B., Rasheed, M., & Khan, M. A. (2017). Antioxidant properties, phenolic composition, bioactive compounds and nutritive value of medicinal halophytes commonly used as herbal teas. *South African Journal of Botany*, 110, 240-250.
- Rahal, A., Kumar, A., Singh, V., Yadav, B., Tiwari, R., Chakraborty, S., & Dhama, K. (2014). Oxidative stress, prooxidants, and antioxidants: The interplay. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 1-19.
- Rahmanpour, M. S., & Khalilzadeh, M. A. (2016). ZnO nanoparticle modified carbon paste electrode as a sensor for electrochemical determination of tertbutylhydroquinone in food samples. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 8, 922-930.

- Rajput, R., Mishra, J., Sharma, P., Bhardwaj, A., Sharma, R. K., Singh, K., ... & Misra, K. (2020). Bioactive fractions from the Chinese caterpillar mushroom, *Ophiocordyceps sinensis* (Ascomycetes): Elucidate adaptogenic role against hypoxia stress. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 22(11), 1121-1133.
- Raman, J., Jang, K. Y., Oh, Y. L., Oh, M., Im, J. H., Lakshmanan, H., & Kong, W. S. (2021). Interspecific hybridization between *Ganoderma lingzhi* and *Ganoderma applanatum* through protoplast fusion. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 37(7), 1-17.
- Ramírez-Anguiano, A. C., Santoyo, S., Reglero, G., & Soler-Rivas, C. (2007). Radical scavenging activities, endogenous oxidative enzymes and total phenols in edible mushrooms commonly consumed in Europe. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 87(12), 2272-2278.
- Rašeta, M. J., Vrbaški, S. N., Bošković, E. V., Popović, M. R., Mimica-Dukić, N. M., & Karaman, M. A. (2017). Comparison of antioxidant capacities of two *Ganoderma lucidum* strains of different geographical origins. *Zbornik Matice Srpske za Prirodne Nauke*, (133), 209-219.
- Rashid, R. A., Daud, F., Awang, M. R., Mutaat, H. H., Senafi, S., Mohamad, A., ... & Rahim, K. A. (2015). Evaluation of mycelia growth, morphology and yield for low dose gamma irradiated grey oyster mushroom *Pleurotus sajorcaju. International Journal of Innovation and Scientific Research*, 24, 332-336.
- Rathee, S., Rathee, D., Rathee, D., Kumar, V., & Rathee, P. (2012). Mushrooms as therapeutic agents. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, 22(2), 459-474.
- Rathore, H., Prasad, S., & Sharma, S. (2017). Mushroom nutraceuticals for improved nutrition and better human health: A review. *PharmaNutrition*, 5(2), 35-46.
- Ratnam, D. V., Ankola, D. D., Bhardwaj, V., Sahana, D. K., & Kumar, M. R. (2006). Role of antioxidants in prophylaxis and therapy: A pharmaceutical perspective. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 113(3), 189-207.
- Razak, D. L., Jamaluddin, A., Rashid, N. Y., Mohd, N. H., Fadzil, N. A., & Manan, M. A. (2018). Comparative evaluation of *Schizophyllum commune* extracts as potential cosmeceutical bio-ingredient. *International Journal of Research in Agricultural Sciences*, 5(1), 37-41.

- Re, R., Pellegrini, N., Proteggente, A., Pannala, A., Yang, M., & Rice-Evans, C. (1999). Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 26(9–10), 1231–1237.
- Reczek, C. R., & Chandel, N. S. (2015). ROS-dependent signal transduction. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 33, 8-13.
- Saad, B., Sing, Y. Y., Nawi, M. A., Hashim, N., Ali, A. S. M., Saleh, M. I., ... & Ahmad, K. (2007). Determination of synthetic phenolic antioxidants in food items using reversed phase HPLC. *Food Chemistry*, 105(1), 389-394.
- Sakamoto, Y. (2018). Influences of environmental factors on fruiting body induction: A development and maturation in mushroom forming fungi. *Fungal Biology Reviews*, 32(4), 236-248.
- San, T., Thant, K. C., & Than, H. H. (2019). Impact of gamma radiation on the productivity and quality of first generation mutant oyster mushroom: *Pleurotus* osteratus. Myanmar Korea Conference Research Journal, 259-266.
- Santos-Sánchez, N. F., Salas-Coronado, R., Villanueva-Cañongo, C., & Hernández-Carlos, B. (2019). Antioxidant compounds and their antioxidant mechanism. (pp. 1-28). London, UK: IntechOpen.
- Sarkar, A., & Ghosh, U. (2016). Natural antioxidants: The key to safe and sustainable life. *International Journal of Latest Trends in Engineering and Technology*, 6(3), 460-466.
- Sarmadi, B. H., & Ismail, A. (2010). Antioxidative peptides from food proteins: A review. *Peptides*, 31(10), 1949-1956.
- Sathesh-Prabu, C., & Lee, Y. K. (2016). Genetic variability and proteome profiling of a radiation induced cellulase mutant mushroom *Pleurotus florida*. *Polish Journal of Microbiology*, 65(3), 271-277.
- Sato, Y., Shirasawa, K., Takahashi, Y., Nishimura, M., & Nishio, T. (2006). Mutant selection from progeny of gamma irradiated rice by DNA heteroduplex cleavage using *Brassica petiole* extract. *Breeding Science*, 56(2), 179-183.
- Schieber, M., & Chandel, N. S. (2014). ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress. *Current Biology*, 24(10), 453-462.

- Sen, S., & Chakraborty, R. (2011). The role of antioxidants in human health. Oxidative Stress: Diagnostics, Prevention, and Therapy, 1-37.
- Sen, S., Chakraborty, R., Sridhar, C., Reddy, Y. S. R., & De, B. (2010). Free radicals, antioxidants, diseases and phytomedicines: Current status and future prospect. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research*, 3(1), 91-100.
- Shah, S. R., Ukaegbu, C. I., Hamid, H. A., & Alara, O. R. (2018). Evaluation of antioxidant and antibacterial activities of the stems of *Flammulina velutipes* and *Hypsizygus tessellatus* (white and brown var.) extracted with different solvents. *Journal of Food Measurement and Characterization*, 12(3), 1947-1961.
- Shahidi, F., & Zhong, Y. (2015). Measurement of antioxidant activity. Journal of Functional Foods, 18, 757-781.
- Sheu, F., Chien, P. J., Hsieh, K. Y., Chin, K. L., Huang, W. T., Tsao, C. Y., ... & Chang, H. H. (2009). Purification, cloning, and functional characterization of a novel immunomodulatory protein from *Antrodia camphorata* (bitter mushroom) that exhibits TLR2-dependent NF-κB activation and M1 polarization within murine macrophages. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(10), 4130-4141.
- Sies, H. (1997). Oxidative stress: Oxidants and antioxidants. *Experimental Physiology: Translation and Integration*, 82(2), 291-295.
- Sikdar, S. R., Islam, S. S., Bhunia, S. K., Dey, B., Maiti, S., Maiti, T. K., ... & Das, D. (2008). Production and characterization of somatic hybrids raised through protoplast fusion between edible mushroom strains *Volvariella volvacea* and *Pleurotus florida*. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 24, 1481-1492.
- Sim, C. Y. (2014). Molecular identification of *Schizophyllum commune* and its production of schizophyllan. *Doctoral Dissertation*, 5-10.
- Singh, R., Kaur, N., Shri, R., Singh, A. P., & Dhingra, G. S. (2020). Proximate composition and element contents of selected species of *Ganoderma* with reference to dietary intakes. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 192, 1-15.
- Singleton, V. L., & Rossi, J. A. (1965). Colorimetry of total phenolics with phosphomolybdic-phosphotungstic acid reagents. *American Journal of Enology* and Viticulture, 16(3), 144–158.

- Sinha, N., & Kumar Dabla, P. (2015). Oxidative stress and antioxidants in hypertension: A current review. *Current Hypertension Reviews*, 11(2), 132-142.
- Siu, K. C., Chen, X., & Wu, J. Y. (2014). Constituents actually responsible for the antioxidant activities of crude polysaccharides isolated from mushrooms. *Journal* of Functional Foods, 11, 548-556.
- Smith, H., Doyle, S., & Murphy, R. (2015). Filamentous fungi as a source of natural antioxidants. *Food Chemistry*, 185, 389-397.
- Smolskaitė, L., Venskutonis, P. R., & Talou, T. (2015). Comprehensive evaluation of antioxidant and antimicrobial properties of different mushroom species. *Food Science and Technology*, 60(1), 462-471.
- Sordillo, L. M., & Aitken, S. L. (2009). Impact of oxidative stress on the health and immune function of dairy cattle. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 128(1-3), 104-109.
- Stadtman, E. R., & Levine, R. L. (2000). Protein oxidation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 899(1), 191-208.
- Stajic, M., Vukojevic, J., Knezevic, A., Duletic Lausevic, S., & Milovanovic, I. (2013). Antioxidant protective effects of mushroom metabolites. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 13(21), 2660-2676.
- Sudha, G., Vadivukkarasi, S., Shree, R. B., & Lakshmanan, P. (2012). Antioxidant activity of various extracts from an edible mushroom *Pleurotus eous*. Food Science and Biotechnology, 21(3), 661-668.
- Tahmouzi, S. (2014). Extraction, antioxidant and antilisterial activities of polysaccharides from the flower of viper's bugloss. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 69, 523-531.
- Tangjitjaroenkun, J., & Tangchitcharoenkhul, R. (2020). Antioxidant properties of the extract from culture filtrate of *Schizophyllum commune*. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, 13(7), 3365-3371.
- Tao, Y., Zhang, L., & Cheung, P. C. (2006). Physicochemical properties and antitumor activities of water-soluble native and sulfated hyperbranched mushroom polysaccharides. *Carbohydrate Research*, 341(13), 2261-2269.

- Taofiq, O., Heleno, S. A., Calhelha, R. C., Alves, M. J., Barros, L., González-Paramás, A. M., ... & Ferreira, I. C. (2017). The potential of *Ganoderma lucidum* extracts as bioactive ingredients in topical formulations, beyond its nutritional benefits. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 108, 139-147.
- Teoh, Y. P., Don, M. M., & Ujang, S. (2012). Nutrient improvement using statistical optimization for growth of *Schizophyllum commune*, and its antifungal activity against wood degrading fungi of rubberwood. *Biotechnology Progress*, 28(1), 232-241.
- Tepsongkroh, B., Jangchud, K., & Trakoontivakorn, G. (2019). Antioxidant properties and selected phenolic acids of five different tray dried and freeze dried mushrooms using methanol and hot water extraction. *Journal of Food Measurement and Characterization*, 13(4), 3097-3105.
- Thetsrimuang, C., Khammuang, S., & Samthima, R. (2011). Dry mushroom fruiting bodies of *Lentinus* sp. strain RJ2. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, 7(1), 58-65.
- Thetsrimuang, C., Khammuang, S., Chiablaem, K., Srisomsap, C., & Sarnthima, R. (2011). Antioxidant properties and cytotoxicity of crude polysaccharides from *Lentinus polychrous* Lév. *Food Chemistry*, 128(3), 634-639.
- Thongbai, B., Rapior, S., Hyde, K. D., Wittstein, K., & Stadler, M. (2015). *Hericium erinaceus*: An amazing medicinal mushroom. *Mycological Progress*, 14(10), 1-23.
- Tsai, S. Y., Mau, J. L., & Huang, S. J. (2014). Enhancement of antioxidant properties and increase of content of vitamin D2 and non-volatile components in fresh button mushroom: *Agaricus bisporus* (higher Basidiomycetes) by γirradiation. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 16(2), 137-147.
- Tseng, Y. H., Yang, J. H., & Mau, J. L. (2008). Antioxidant properties of polysaccharides from *Ganoderma tsugae*. Food Chemistry, 107(2), 732-738.
- Ustun, N. Ş., Bulam, S., & Pekşen, A. (2018). The use of mushrooms and their extracts and compounds in functional foods and nutraceuticals. *International Technological Sciences and Design Symposium, 1*, 1205-1222.
- Van Lancker, F., Adams, A., & De Kimpe, N. (2011). Chemical modifications of peptides and their impact on food properties. *Chemical Reviews*, 111(12), 7876-7903.
- Vaz, J. A., Barros, L., Martins, A., Santos-Buelga, C., Vasconcelos, M. H., & Ferreira, I. C. (2011). Chemical composition of wild edible mushrooms and antioxidant properties of their water soluble polysaccharidic and ethanolic fractions. *Food Chemistry*, 126(2), 610-616.
- Villares, A., Mateo-Vivaracho, L., & Guillamón, E. (2012). Structural features and healthy properties of polysaccharides occurring in mushrooms. *Agriculture*, *2*(4), 452-471.
- Vishwakarma, P., Singh, P., & Tripathi, N. N. (2016). Nutritional and antioxidant properties of wild edible macrofungi from North-Eastern Uttar Pradesh, India. *Niscair Online Periodicals Repository*, 15(1), 143-148.
- Walser, P. J., Haebel, P. W., Künzler, M., Sargent, D., Kües, U., Aebi, M., & Ban, N. (2004). Structure and functional analysis of the fungal galectin CGL2. *Structure*, 12(4), 689-702.
- Wang, B. N., Yang, Z. Q., & Yang, X. H. (2007). Breeding of a new strain of *Flammulina* velutipes by γ-rays induced mutation. *Henan Science*, 25 (3), 413-415.
- Wang, N., Ren, D. M., Gong, T., Guan, Y. L., & Yang, Y. (2005). Screening of high polysaccharide yield strain of *Hericium erinaceus* by (60) Co-gamma irradiation. *Edible Fungi of China*, 1-6.
- Wang, S., Melnyk, J. P., Tsao, R., & Marcone, M. F. (2011). How natural dietary antioxidants in fruits, vegetables and legumes promote vascular health. *Food Research International*, 44(1), 14-22.
- Wang, X. M., Zhang, J., Wu, L. H., Zhao, Y. L., Li, T., Li, J. Q., & Liu, H. G. (2014). A mini review of chemical composition and nutritional value of edible wild grown mushroom from China. *Food Chemistry*, 151, 279-285.
- Wang, Y., Jia, J., Ren, X., Li, B., & Zhang, Q. (2018). Extraction, preliminary characterization and *in vitro* antioxidant activity of polysaccharides from *Oudemansiella radicata* mushroom. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 120, 1760-1769.
- Wang, Y., Liu, Y., & Hu, Y. (2014). Optimization of polysaccharides extraction from *Trametes robiniophila* and its antioxidant activities. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 111, 324-332.

- Wani, B. A., Bodha, R. H., & Wani, A. H. (2010). Nutritional and medicinal importance of mushrooms. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*, 4(24), 2598-2604.
- Wasser, S. (2014). Medicinal mushroom science: Current perspectives, advances, evidences, and challenges. *Biomedical Journal*, 37(6), 345-356.
- Wei, W., Liu, Q., Tan, Y., Liu, L., Li, X., & Cai, L. (2009). Oxidative stress, diabetes, and diabetic complications. *Hemoglobin*, 33(5), 370-377.
- Weng, B., Huang, T., Jiang, Z., Lin, Y., & Xiao, S. (2004). Protein nutrient value evaluation of mutant strain J5 fruitbody *Agaricus bazei murrill* by (60) Co-gamma irradiation. *Acta Agriculturae Nucleatae Sinica*, 18(6), 422-462.
- Wieczorek, P. P., Witkowska, D., Jasicka-Misiak, I., Poliwoda, A., Oterman, M., & Zielińska, K. (2015). Bioactive alkaloids of hallucinogenic mushrooms. *Studies* in Natural Products Chemistry, 46, 133-168.
- Williamson, E. M. (2001). Synergy and other interactions in phytomedicines. *Phytomedicine*, 8(5), 401-409.
- Wojtunik-Kulesza, K. A., Oniszczuk, A., Oniszczuk, T., & Waksmundzka-Hajnos, M. (2016). The influence of common free radicals and antioxidants on development of Alzheimer's disease. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, 78, 39-49.
- Wong, J. H., Wang, H. X., & Ng, T. B. (2008). Marmorin, a new ribosome inactivating protein with antiproliferative and HIV-1 reverse transcriptase inhibitory activities from the mushroom *Hypsizigus marmoreus*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 81(4), 669-674.
- Wu, Z., Meenu, M., & Xu, B. (2020). Nutritional value and antioxidant activity of Chinese black truffle (*Tuber indicum*) grown in different geographical regions in China. *LWT-Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 135, 110-226.
- Xu, D. P., Zhou, Y., Zheng, J., Li, S., Li, A. N., & Li, H. B. (2016). Optimization of ultrasound-assisted extraction of natural antioxidants from the flower of *Jatropha integerrima* by response surface methodology. *Molecules*, 21(1), 18-30.
- Xu, D.-P., Li, Y., Meng, X., Zhou, T., Zhou, Y., Zheng, J., & Li, H. B. (2017). Natural antioxidants in foods and medicinal plants: Extraction, assessment and resources. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(1), 96-128.

- Yadav, M., Yadav, A., & Yadav, J. P. (2014). *In vitro* antioxidant activity and total phenolic content of endophytic fungi isolated from *Eugenia jambolana* Lam. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, 7, 256-261.
- Yan, J., Zhu, L., Qu, Y., Qu, X., Mu, M., Zhang, M., ... & Sun, L. (2019). Analyses of active antioxidant polysaccharides from four edible mushrooms. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 123, 945-956.
- Yehye, W. A., Rahman, N. A., Ariffin, A., Hamid, S. B. A., Alhadi, A. A., Kadir, F. A., & Yaeghoobi, M. (2015). Understanding the chemistry behind the antioxidant activities of butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT): A review. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 101, 295-312.
- Yelithao, K., Surayot, U., Lee, C., Palanisamy, S., Prabhu, N. M., Lee, J., & You, S. (2019). Studies on structural properties and immune-enhancing activities of glycomannans from *Schizophyllum commune*. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 218, 37-45.
- Yue, Q. X., Song, X. Y., Ma, C., Feng, L. X., Guan, S. H., Wu, W. Y., ... & Guo, D. A. (2010). Effects of triterpenes from *Ganoderma lucidum* on protein expression profile of HeLa cells. *Phytomedicine*, 17(8-9), 606-613.
- Yuwa-amornpitak, T., Butkhup, L., & Yeunyaw, P. N. (2020). Amino acids and antioxidant activities of extracts from wild edible mushrooms from a community forest in the Nasrinual district, Maha Sarakham, Thailand. *Food Science and Technology*, 40(3), 712-720.
- Zhang, Y., Liu, Z., Ng, T. B., Chen, Z., Qiao, W., & Liu, F. (2014). Purification and characterization of a novel antitumor protein with antioxidant and deoxyribonuclease activity from edible mushroom *Pholiota nameko. Biochimie*, 99, 28-37.
- Zhang, Z., Lv, G., He, W., Shi, L., Pan, H., & Fan, L. (2013). Effects of extraction methods on the antioxidant activities of polysaccharides obtained from *Flammulina velutipes. Carbohydrate Polymers*, 98(2), 1524-1531.
- Zhao, L., Liu, L., Wang, J., Guo, H., Gu, J., Zhao, S., ... & Xie, Y. (2015). Development of a new wheat germplasm with high anther culture ability by using a combination of gamma-ray irradiation and anther culture. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 95(1), 120-125.

- Zhong, J. J., & Xiao, J. H. (2009). Secondary metabolites from higher fungi: Discovery, bioactivity, and bioproduction. *Heidelberg, Germany: Springer Publisher*, 79-150.
- Zhong, K., Tong, L., Liu, L., Zhou, X., Liu, X., Zhang, Q., & Zhou, S. (2015). Immunoregulatory and antitumor activity of schizophyllan under ultrasonic treatment. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 80, 302-308.
- Ziskoven, C., Jäger, M., Zilkens, C., Bloch, W., Brixius, K., & Krauspe, R. (2010). Oxidative stress in secondary osteoarthritis: From cartilage destruction to clinical presentation. *Orthopedic Reviews*, 2(2), 95-10.

94